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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

&Q q( NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

ERIC ROSS and BRADLEY S. HURETH,

Pla.intifféC

TREX COMPANY, INC, a Delaware
corporation,

Case No.

V.

Defendants.

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332, 1441, 1446, and 1453,
Defendant Tex Company, Inc. (“Trex”), by its undersigned attorneys, hereby removes this action
from the Superior Court of the State of California, in and for the County of Santa Cruz, in which
court the case is currently pending, to the United States District Court for the Northern District of
California. In support thereof, Trex states as follows:

1. Trex exercises its rights under the provisions of 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332, 1441, 1446, and
1453, to remove this case from the Superior Court of the State of California, in and for the County of
Santa Cruz, styled Ross, et al. v. Trex Company, Inc., Case No. CV161553.

2. 28 U.S.C. Section 1441(a) provides:

Except as otherwise expressly provided by Act of Congress, any civil action brought

in a State court of which the district courts of the United States have original
jurisdiction, may be removed by the defendant or the defendants, to the district court
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. U.S.C. § 1332(d), because: (1) the putative class action consists of at least 100 proposed class
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of the United States for the district and division embracing the place where such

action is pending.

3. This is a civil action that was instituted in state court, and has not been tried.
Plaintiffs have filed a Complaint against Trex and a First Amended Complaint. A true and correct
copy of the Complaint filed in state court is attached hereto as Exhibit A. A true and correct copy of
the First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) filed in state court is attached hereto as Exhibit B. Service of
the First Amended Complaint was effected on January 20, 2009, when Trex’s attorney accepted
service on Trex’s behalf. A true and correct copy of the Summons received by Trex is attached
hereto as Exhibit C.

4, As more fully set forth below, this case is properly removed to this Court (a) pursuant
to 28 U.S.C. § 1441 and (b) because this Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the case pursuant
to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d) and § 1332(b).

SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION

I THIS CLASS ACTION IS REMOVABLE UNDER THE CLASS ACTION FAIRNESS
ACT, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d), 1453

5. This case is being removed subject to the provisions of the Class Action Fairness Act,
codified at 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d), 1453 (“CAFA”).

6. As set forth below, this Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to CAFA, 28

members; (2) the citizenship of at least one putative class member is different from that of Trex; and
(3) the aggregate amount placed in controversy by the claims of the named Plaintiffs and the
proposed class members exceeds the sum or value of $5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs.

A. The Putative Class Consists Of More Than 100 Members

7. Plaintiffs purport to bring this action on behalf of a California Class pursuant to
California Code of Civil Procedure §382 and on behalf of a National Class pursuant to Rule 23 of
the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure and “fo the extent applicable, the analogous provisions of
Federal rule of Civil Procedure 23.” FACYY 28—29..

8. Plaintiffs allege that “Plaintiffs and thousands of others in California and across the
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A

United States own inherently defective Trex decking products[.]” FAC 9 5. Plaintiffs further allege
that “the number of affected structures constructed from Trex products is in the tens of thousands,
such that joiner is impracticable.” FAC  36.

0. Based upon these, and other allegations, the aggregate number of class members in
Plaintiffs’ proposed state and nationwide classes are each at least 100 for purposes of satisfying 28
U.S.C. § 1332(d)(5)(B).

B. The Minimal Diversity Of Citizenship Requirement Is Satisfied

10. At the time Plaintiffs commenced this action in state court, and now at the time of
removal, there was, and is minimal diversity of citizenship as contemplated by CAFA, 28 U.S.C.
§ 1332(d)}(2)(A).

11.  As alleged in the Complaint, named Plaintiffs Eric Ross and Bradley S. Hureth are
California citizens. FAC Y 6-7.

12.  Asalleged in the Complaint, Trex is a corporation that is incorporated in Delaware
and has its principal place of business in Virginia. FACY 8. A “corporation shall be deemed to be a
citizen of any State by which it has been incorporated and of the State where it has its principal place
of business.” 28 U.S.C. § 1332(c)(1). Thus, for purposes of diversity of citizenship under 28 U.S.C.,
§ 1332, Trex is a citizen of a state other than California.

13.  Accordingly, the citizenship of at least one putative class member is different from
the citizenship of Trex for the purposes of satisfying 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A).

C. The Amount In Controversy Requirement Under CAFA Is Satisfied

14. Under CAFA, the claims of the individual class members in a class action are
aggregated to determine if the amount in controversy exceeds the sum or value of $5,000,000. See
28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(6). Plaintiffs’ putative class claims meet the jurisdictional threshold set forth in
§ 1332(d)(6), in that, if awarded, the aggregate amount of the damages and other relief sought by
Plaintiffs for themselves -and the proposed class members will exceed $5,000,000, exclusive of
interest and costs. |

15.  The FAC alleges that Trex sold plaintiff and the purported “tens of thousands™ in the
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all relief sought by the claimants).

Case3:09-cv-00670-JSW Documentl Filed02/13/09 Page4 of 9

putative class “inherently defective” decking products that “even when installed and maintained in
accordance with Trex’s instructions” will ““delaminate,’ including flaking rotting, cracking and
splintering” and “there is no repair that will correct the problems.” FAC 49 2-3, 36.

16.  Plaintiffs allege five separate cause of action: (1) violation of the California
Consumer Legal remedies Acts; (2) violation of California Business and Professions Code §§17200
& 17500, (3) violation of the Nevada Trade Regulation and Practices Act; (4) breach of express
warranty; and (5) unjust enrichment. FAC §Y 62-109.

17.  Based on these allegations, Plaintiffs seek several forms of relief, including:
compensatory damages, ecxemplary and statutory damages, restitution or disgorgement of profits,
injunction, attorney’s fees and costs. FAC Y113-115.

18.  Plaintiffs allege the class contains “teﬁs of thousands.” FAC Y 36. In order to meet
the $5 million amount-in-controversy threshold, the exposure for the named Plaintiffs and each
member of the putative class as defined by plaintiffs only needs to be $500 per person, assuming a
class of 10,000. Here, Plaintiff Eric Ross alleges he spent $2,926.84 on Trex decking and spent
approximately $2,000 to have it installed. FAC § 6. Plaintiff Bradley S. Hureth alleges he spent
$1,300 on Trex decking products. FAC 9 7. Thus, based upon the claims of named plaintiffs, the
$500 per plaintiff threshold is easily satisfied. |

19.  The other damages alleged and reiief requested may also indépendently satisfy the $5
million threshold. CAFA’s legislative history makes clear that in its assessment of whether the $5
million threshold is met, a court should include the value of all relief sought by the claimants,
mcluding claims for punitive damages, injunction, disgorgement of profits and statutory attorney’s
fees. See S. Rep. 109-14, reprinted in 2005 WL 627977, at ¥42-44 (1st Sess. 2005) (in determining

whether the amount in controversy threshold is met under CAFA, a court must include the value of

20.  CAFA’s legislative history also makes clear that doubts regarding the maintenance of
class actions in state or federal court should be resolved in favor of federal jurisdiction. See, e.g., S.

Rep. 109-14, reprinted in 2005 WL 627977, at *43 (“[o]verall, new section 1332(d) is intended to
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expand substantially federal court jurisdiction over class actions”); accord McMorris v. TIX

Companies, Inc., 493 F.Supp.2d 158, 162 (D. Mass. 2007) (“one of CAFA’s primary mechanmsms
for expanding jurisdiction is to replace the strict complete diversity requirement with a lenient rule
now granting jurisdiction if any diversity exists between plaintiffs and defendants™).

21.  In sum, because there is minimal diversity between the parties and because the
$5,000,000 amount in controversy requirement is satisfied, this case is properly removed pursuant to
CAFA, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d), 1453.

IL THIS ACTION IS REMOVABLE UNDER THE DISTRICT COURT’S

TRADITIONAL DIVERSITY JURISDICTION

22.  The present case is also removed on diversity grounds under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(a)
and 1441(b) and the Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the claims of the putative class under
28 U.S.C. § 1367(a).

23.  The Court has original jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ claims based upon traditional
diversity jurisdiction as set forth in 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a). Under § 1332(a), a federal district court
has jurisdiction over any claim where there exists complete diversity between the parties and where
the amount in controversy exceeds the sum or value of $75,000, exclusive of interest and costs. See
28 U.S.C. § 1332(a). In the context of a class action, where complete diversity exists between the
named plaintiff and the defendant, and at least one named plaintiff satisfies the amount in
controversy reqﬁirement, a federal district court should exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the

claims of the putative class members. See Exxon Mobil Corp. v. Allapattah Servs., Inc., 545 U.S.

546, 549 (2005).

24.  The enactment of CAFA did not abrogate, supplant, or otherwise restrict the
traditional diversity jurisdiction conferred upon the federal courts by Section 1332(a). See Steel City
Group. v. Global Online Direct, Inc., No. 2:06-cv-1501, 2006 WL 3484318, at *1 (W.D. Pa. Nov.

30, 2006); Dixon v. Nan Ya Plastics Corp., Civil Action No. 07-227-C, 2007 WL 4561136, at *3-5

(M.D. La. Dec. 20, 2007) (analyzing diversity jurisdiction under both CAFA and traditional
diversity); see also Allapattah, 545 U.S. at 571-72 (“The CAFA ... does not moot the significance of
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our interpretation of § 1367, as many proposed exercises of supplemental jurisdiction, even in the

class-action context, might not fall within the CAFA’s ambit”); Dowell v, Debt Relief Am., L.P.,

No. 2:07-CV-27 (JCH), 2007 WL 1876478, at *2 (E.D. Mo. June 27, 2007) (“The supplemental
jurisdiction statute, 28 U.S.C. § 1367 ... also allows a district_co.urt to exercise jurisdiction over a
class action even if the $5,000,000 amount is not satisfied as long as the other elements of diversity
jurisdiction are present and at least one named plaintiff satisfies the $75,000 amount in controversy
requirement found in § 1332(a)”).

A. Complete Diversity Of Citizenship Is Satisfied Under Traditional Diversity
Principles

25. At the time Plaintiffs filed their FAC and at the time of removal, there was and is
complete diversity of citizenship between the parties, as contemplated by 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(a) and
1441(b). In the context of a class action, an action is removable where complete diversity exisis
between the named plaintiff and the defendant. See Allapattah, 545 U.S. at 549, |

26.  Plaintiffs are citizens of the State of California. FAC 9 6-7.

27. Under traditional diversity principles, Trex is a citizen of a State other than
California. 28 U.S.C. § 1348. Accordingly, there is complete diversity of citizenship between
Plaintiffs and Trex for the purposes of satisfying 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a)(1).

B. The Amount In Controversy Requirement Is Satisfied Under Traditional
Diversity Principles
28. The amount in controversy requirement of 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a) is satisfied in that the

amount in controversy with respect to Plaintiffs’ claims exceeds the sum of $75,000, exclusive of
interest and costs.

29.  Plaintiffs allege five separate cause of action: (1) violation of the California
Consumer Legal remedies Acts; (2) violation of California Business and Professions Code §§17200
& 17500, (3) violation of the Nevada Trade Regulation and Practices Act; (4) breach of express
warranty; and (5) unjust enrichment. FAC 9 62-109.

30.  Based on these allegations, Plaintiffs seek several forms of relief, including:

‘compensatory damages, exemplary and statutory damages, restitution or disgorgement of profits,
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injunction, attorney’s fees and costs. FAC §{113-115.

31.  Upon satisfaction of certain requirements thereof, the California Consumer Legal
Remedies Act provides for punitive damages, injunction, and attorneys fees. Cal.Civ. Code
§81780(a). The California Unfair Business Practices Act provides for injunctive relief. Cal.
Business & Prof. Code 9 17200 et seq. |

32.  Finally, Plaintiffs seck “institution of a constructive trust disgorging all profits,
benefits, and other compensation obtained by Trex[.]” FAC Y 109. Plaintiffs allege Trex sold
defective products since approximately 2003. FAC § 4. Plaintiffs allege this is a latent defect to
which equitable tolling applies, thereby extending the applicable period beyond the four year statute
of limitations. FAC 9 25-27. Plaintiffs allege the number of products sold is in the tens of
thousa;nds. FAC 1 36. Each named plaintiff spent more than $1,000 on the product. FAC §6-7.
Profits from more than 10,000 products sold nationally for more than 5 years for at least $1,000 each
will easily reach the $75,000 threshold.

33.  Thus, the monetary threshold is met because if successful, each plaintiff would be
entitled to damages exceeding $75,000. Moreover, Plaintiffs seek a constructive trust of profits from
decking products sold nationally since 2005 that would also exceed $75,000.

34,  As amatter of Iaw, the amount in controversy is insufficient “only when, ‘from the
face of the pleadings, it is apparent, to a legal certainty, ... that the plaintiff never was entitled to

recover’ a sum equal to, or in excess of, the jurisdictional minimum.” Barrett v. Lombardi, 239 F.3d

23, 30 (1st Cir. 2001} (quoting St. Paul Mercury Indemnity Co. v. Red Cab Co., 303 U.S. 283, 289

(1938)); see also Geschke v. Air Force Ass’n, 425 F.3d 337, 341 (7th Cir. 2005) (“[o]nly if it were
legally impossible for [plaintiff] to win on claims totaling more than $75,000 would her suit fail for
want of jurisdiction™). Although Trex maintains that Plaintiffs’ claims are without merit, it is not
apparent, to a legal certainty, from the face of the FAC that Plaintiffs would not be entitled to
recover more than $75,000.00, exclusive of interest and costs.

35.  Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint satisfies the amount in controversy

requirement and the Court should exercise jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ individual claims and
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supplemental jurisdiction over the claims of the putative class.. See Allapattah, 545 U.S. at 549.
PROCEDURAL COMPLIANCE

36.  In accordance with the requirements of 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b), this Notice of Removal
is filed within thirty (30) days after the receipt by Trex of a copy of the Summons and the FAC
pleading setting forth the claims for relief upon which this removal is based.

37.  Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1441 et seq., the right exists to remove this case from the
Superior Court of the State of California, in and for the County of Santa Cruz, in which court the
case is currently pending, to the United States District Court for the Northern District of California.

38.  The United States District Court for the Northern District of California embraces the
county in which the state court action is now pending, and thus, this Court is a proper venue for this
action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 101. This civil action may properly be assigned to the San Jose
division of this Court pursuant to Civil L.R. 3-2(c), because a substantial part of the events or
omissions which give rise to the claim occurred in the counties listed in Civil L.R. 3-2(¢).

39.  No previous application has been made for the relief requested herein. -

40.  Pursuant to the provisions of 28 U.S.C. § 1446(a), attached hereto is a copy of: (1) the
Complaint filed in state court (attached hereto as Exhibit A); and (2) the First Amended Complaint
filed in state court (attached hereto as Exhibit B); the Summons served on Trex (attached hereto as
Exhibit C).

41,  Written notice of the filing of this Notice of Removal will be served upon counsel for
Plaintiffs through is attorneys of record, Jonathan D. Selbin, Lieff Cabraser Heimann & Bernstein,
LLP, as well as Plaintiff’s other attorneys of record listed on the Frist Amended Complaint.

42. A true and correct copy of this Notice of Removal will be filed with the clerk of the
Superior Court of the State of California, in and for the County of Santa Cruz, as required by law,
and served upon counsel for Plaintiffs.

43.  In filing this Notice of Removal, Trex does not waive, and specifically reserves, all
defenses, exceptions, rights and motions. No statement herein or omission herefrom shall be

deemed to constitute an admission by Trex of any of the allegations of or damages sought in the
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WHEREFORE, defendant Trex Company, Inc. hereby removes this case from the Superior

Court of the State of California, in and for the County of Santa Cruz, where it is now pending to this

Court.
Dated: February 13, 2009

P\1288_RC\11288_008

K&L GATES LLP

By:
Mardtﬂ:éw G. Ball (SBN 208881)
maithew balli@klgates.com

| Atton/eys for Defendant Trex Company, Inc.
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[additional counsel listed on signature pages)
Attorneys for Plaintiffs and the Proposed Class

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY
ERIC ROSS, THOMAS MABREY, JR. and
m‘:h SPALLJERO, on behalf of themselves ;
others similarly situated, ./
o CASENO.:@ /161953
Plaintiffs,
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
V.
TREX COMPANY, INC,, a Delaware DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
corporation,
Defandant _ FILED BY FAX

Plaintiffs Eric Ross, Thomas Mabrey, Jr. and Diamma Spalliero (“Plaintiffs™) allege
the following on behalf of themselves and all similarly situated:

1. INTRODUCTION
1. Plaintiffs bring this action for monetary damages, declaratory and equitable
relief, and restitution and/or disgorgement of profits on behalf of themselves and all similarly~

3792 -1«
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sitnated individuals and entitics (the “Class™) who own decking products manufactered,
wamranted, advertised, and sold by Trex Company, Inc. (*“Trex™).

2. Trex decking products are inherently defective because when mstalled and
roaintained in accordance with Trex’s instructions, they expenence delamination and moisture-
1olated defects and are substantially certain to fail well before their warranted and expected usefil
life (“Defects”). These Defects are latent and exist in the Trex decks at the time of sale regardless
of proper installation, maintenance and cleaning, and there is no repair that will correct the
problems.

3 Trex has been manufacturing, warranting, ﬁdvcr:ising and selling Trex
products it knew or should have known were inherently defective since approximately 1996, and
perhaps before.

4. Asaresult of these Defects, Plaigtiffs and thousands of others in California
and across the United States own inberently defective Trex docks that are failing to perform as
warranted and advertised by Trex, did not get what they paid for, and have incurred or will incur
thousands of dollars in damages to replace their decks.

. PARTIES

' S. Plaintiff Evic Ross resides in Santa Cruz, Santa Cruz County, California.
He purchased Trex Accents decking matenial in or around June 2005, for approximately
$2,926.84. Plaintiff Ross constructed a deck on his home from those materials, at an additional
cost of approxtmately $2,000. In or about January 2007, Plaintiff Ross’s deck began to show
signs of deapnination. Plaintiffs’ expert has mspected Plaintiff Ross’s deck and confinned that
the delamination defect bas manifested.

6. Plamtiff Thomas Mabrey, Jr. 3s an Illinois resident who resides in
Inverness, Cook County, {llinois. Plaintiff Mabrey purchased Trex Escape decking material in
March 2005 at a cost of approximately $13,600 for materials and labor. Within just a few months
after installation, the deck started to manifest the Defects. Plaintiff Mabrey’s contractor
atternpted to contact Trex on numerous occasions on his behalf to discuss his problem but the

company did not respond to his telephone messages and emails.
7837912 -2
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7. Plaintiff Dianna Spalliero is resident of Chicago, Cook County, Imois.
Plaintiff Spallicro purchased Trex decking material in approximately June 2007 through a |
conteactor. The total cost of the decking materials and labor to instal) the deck was approxmmately
$12,000. Roughly one year after the deck was installed, it started to manifest the Defects.
Plaintiff Spallicro spoke to her contractor about the problem, and he contacted Trex. Trex told
Plaintiff Spalliero’s contractor that the Defects were not covered wader her warranty and it could
not provide her with any relief.

8. Trex is incorporated in Delaware and has its principal place of business in
Winchester, Virginia. It is the conntry’s largest manufacterer of wood-plastic composite decking,
railing, fencing and tiim products. Its products are marketed and sold under the brand name
“Trex.” The company does business throughout California and the United States. It
manufactured, warranted, advertised and sold the defective decking products that were installed
op Plaintiffs’ homes and those of thousands of others throughout California and the United States.

ne.  JURISDICTION

9. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to California Code of
Civil Procedurc Section 410.10. Jurisdiction over Trex is proper bécause it has purposefully
availed itself of the privilege of conducting business activities in California by selling Trex
decking materials to Plaintiff Ross and membere of the Class, by maintaining a distribution center
in this Statc, and because it has generally maintained systematic and continuous busincss contacts
with this state. |
V. VENUE

10.  Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to California Code of Civil
Procedure §§ 395(s), 395(b), 395.5, Civil Code § 1780(c), because (a) some of the described
injuries to property occwred in this county; (b) some of the acts and transactions complained of
herein occurred within this county; and (c) Trex conducts business in thig county by warranting,
advertising and se)ling its deckiog préducts here.

11. A venue affidavit pursnant to California Civil Code § 1780{c) 1s attached

hereto as Exhibit A,
7837912 -3 -
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V.  CHOICE OF LAW

12.  Califormia law govems the claims asserted herein.

13.  No enforceable choice-of-law agreement governs here or compels the
application of different states’ laws. |

14.  Califormia’s interest in this action, which seeks to protect the rights and
interests of California and .othcr U.S. residents against a company doing business 1 California, is
greater than any other State, _

15. A common nucleus of facts and legal issues dominates this litigation.
Although some class reembers may possess slightly differing remedies based on state statute or
common law, the claims assested by the Plaintiffs are predicated on the same core facts and legal
claims with substantially the same relevant elements. To the extent distinct remeches may exist,
they are local variants of a generally homogenous collection of causes of action which include
consumer fraud, breach of express warranty and nnjust eprichxoent.

16.  Califormia has the most significant relationship with the parties and to the

_events and occurrences that form the basis of the litigation. Trex distributes its product in

California and maintains a distdbution center in the State. Plaintiff Ross resides in Santa Cruz
County, California. He purchesed Trex decking material in California, and the decking matenial
is cumrently located in California. Thousands of other California residents also purchased and
own Trex decks that have experienced or will experience the Defects.

‘. 17.  Applicetion of California law is neither arbitrary nor fundamentally unfazr,
because California has significant contacts and. a significant aggregation of coptacts that crcate a
state inlerest in this Yitigation. |
vl. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

18.  Trex is a wood-plastic cornposite decking material that Trex manufactures
using a blend of plastics and recycled post-industrial wood fibers. Trex is advertised as a
premium material suitable for constructing outdoor decks, railings and other related stractures.
Trex is typically more expensive than decking products made from altemate materials, such as
treated wood, redwood and cedar.

T783791.2 -4.
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19.  Upon information and belief, Trex has been manufachwing, advertising,
warranting and selling Trex for consumer and commercial use since at east 1996.

20.  Trex advertises its decking as “tak{ing] the natural beauty of wood, but
leav[ing] behind all the rotting and splintering,” and as “resistant to moisture.”
<http:/fwww.trex.com/decking/defanlt aspx>

21.  Trex warrants its products for twenty-five (25) years from the date of
original purchase. The warranty provides that “Trex products shall be free from material defects
in workmanship and materials, and shall not check, split, splinter, rot or svifer stroctural damage
from termites or fimgal decay.” <htip.//www irex.com/warranty/>

22.  Trex decking products, however, expericnce the Defects shortly afier
installation, and well before their warranted and expected useful life. The Defects are unsolvable,
in that there is no repair or cléaning that can correct the problems.

23.  Plaintiffs and their counsel have been in contact with approximately three
hundred (300) owners of Trex decks throughout the United States who have expencnccd the
Defects.

24.  Trex failsin ité purpose of providing suitable material with which to build
and maintain a deck, and it fails to meet its advertised and warranted qualities of being low
maintenance, superior to wood, and fit for use without application of sealants. |

25.  Trex bas refused to provide adequate relief to Plaintiffs or thousands of
others like them whose decks are prematurely failing.

VII. TOLLING

26. Becapse the Defects are latent and not detectable until manifestation,
Plaintiffs a;xd the Class members were not reasonably able to discover them until after purchase
and installanon, despite their exercise of due diligence.

. 27.  Trex knew of the Defects prior to the time of sale, and concealed that
material information from Plaintiffs and all consumers. Any applicable statutes of limitation

have, therefore, been tolled by Trex’s concealment of material facts.

7837902 -5.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT




Case3:09-cv-00670-JSW Documentl-1 F|Ied02/13/09 Page6 of 29

08/30/2008 13:11 FaX 14153511 _ Boro/028

A I - B D T

10
1
12
13
14
15

16
17
18
19
20
21

23
24
25
26
27
28

28.  Trex is estopped from relying on any sfatues of Ymitation because of its
concealment of the Defects.

VII. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
29.  Plaintiffs bring this lawsuit as a class action op behalf of themselves and all

other similarly situated consumers as members of a proposed plaintiff class pursuant to Cahforma
Code of Civil Procedure § 382, California Civil Code § 1781, and, to the extent applicable, the
analogous provisions of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23. Based npon the allegations of this
Complaint, this action satisfies the ascertainability, numerosity, commonality, typicality,
adequacy, predominance, and superiority requirements for class certification in California Courts.

30. The Class 15 defined as:

All persons and entities, who own decking or structures constructed
of Trex deck material, including the legal representatives, heirs,
successors in interest, transforees aud assigns of all such foregomg
holders and/or owners, immediate and remote (the “Class™).

31.  The folliowing Persons shall be excluded from the Class: (1) Trex and its
subsidiaries, affiliates, officers and employees; (2) all Persons who make a timely election to be
excluded from the proposed Class; (3) governmnental entities; and (4) the judge(s) to whom this
case js assigned and any immediate family members thereof.

32.  Inaddition, all claims for personal injury, wrougful death and emotional
distress are exchided from the Class. '

33.  Plamuffs reserve the right to re-define the Class prior to certification.

Ascertainability & Numerosity

34.  Although the exact number of Class members is uncertain and can only be
ascertained through appropriate discovery, Plaintiffs are informed and reasonably bebeve the
munber of affected structares constructed from Trex products is in the tons of thousands, such
that joinder is impracticable.

35.  The Class is composed of an easily ascertainable, self-identifying set of

individuals and entities who own decks or other structures constructed with Trex material.

783702 -6-
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Community of Interest
36.  There is a well-defined comurunity of interest among the proposed Class

members, and the disposition of all their claims in a smgle action will provide substantial benefits
to all partics and to the Coutt. |
Typicality

37. Theclaims ofthe répresmtaﬁva Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of the
Class in that the representative Plaintiffs, like all Class members, own defective Trex decks, and
have been damaged by Trex’s woiform misconduct by having decks that are deteriorating or
otherwise defective. _

38.  Therepresentative Plaintiffs, like all Class members, have been damaged
by Defendant's misconducet in that they have incurred or will incur the cost cleaning and/or
replacing the defective Trex decking products, including the labor costs.

39.  Furthermore, the factual bases of Trex’s misconduct is common to all Class
members and represents a comanxon thread of misconduct resulting in injury to all members of the
Class.

Predominance of Common Issues

40.  There are numerous questions of law and fact commeon to Plaintiffs and the

" Class. Those questions predominate over any questions that may affect individual Class

members, apd inchude the following:

41.  Whether Trex prodnets are defective in that they experience delamination
and moisture-related defects, and are therefore suBsmnﬁaﬂy certain to fail under ordinary
conditions well 1 advance of their expected useful life;

42.  Whether Trex knew or ghould have known of the inherent desipn and/or
manufachiring defects in Trex products and concealed those facts;

43, Whether Trex misrepresented that its products had certain qualities,
characteristics or benefits;

44,  Whether Trex represented that its products were of a particular standard,

quality or grade when they were not;

7837912 T
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45.  Whether Trex advertised and/or offered for sale products that were
defective without clearly and unequivocally indicating that the products were defective;

46.  Whether the facts Trex misrepresented, concealed or faile& to disclose were
material;

47.  Whether as a result of Trex’s misrepresentation and/or concealment of
material facts, Plaintiffs and the Class acted to their detriment by purchasing Trex products;

48.  Whether Plaintiffs and the Class have suffered a Joss as the result of Trex’s
misTepresentation and/or concealment of matenal facts:

49.  Whether Trex’s conduct in advertising and selting Trex products
constitutes a violation of the California Consumer Legal Remedies Act, Civ. Code § 1750, et seq.
(“CLRA™),

50.  Whether Trex’s conduct 1n advertising and selling Trex products
copstitutes a violation of California’s Unfair Business Practices Act, Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200,
et seq.; _

51.  Whether Trex created express warranties regarding its product;

52.  Whether those watranties became part of the basis of the bargain for
Plaintiffs and the Class;

53.  Whether Trex should be declared financi ally responsible for notifying all
Class members of the problems with Trex products and for the costs and expenses of repair
and/or replacement of all such products; _

54.  Whether Plaintiffs and the Class are entitled to compensatory, exemplary,
and statutory damages, and the amount of such damages; and

55.  Whether Trex should be ordered to disgorge, for the benefit of the Class,
al] or part of the ill-gotien profits it received from the sale of defective Trex products, and/or to

make full restitution to Plaintiffs and the members of the Class.

183791 2 -8-
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Adegnacy
56.  Plamtiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class. They

have retained counsel with substantial experience in prosecuting consumer class actions, and
specifically actions mvolving defective products.

S‘f . Plaintiffs and their counsel are committed to prosecuting this action
vigorously on behalf of the Class, and bave the financial resouxces to do so. Neither Plaintiffs nor
their counsel has any interests adverse to those of the Class.

58.  Plaintiffs md the members of the Class have all suffered and will continue
to suffer harm and damages as a result of Trex’s unlawful and wrongful conduct. A class action
is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudicatton of the controversy.
Absent a class action, most members of the Class would Iikely find the cost of tigating their
claims to be prohibitive, and would have no effective remedy at Taw. Becauss of the xelatively
small size of the individual Class members® claims, it is unlkely that Class members could afford
10 seek legal redress for Trex’s misconduct. Absent a class action, Class nembers will continue
to incur damages and Trex’s misconduct will contivue without remedy. Class treatment of |
common guestions of law and fact would also be superior to multiple individual actions or
piecemeal litigation in that class treatment will conserve the resources of the courts and the
litigants, and will promote consistency and efficiency of adjudication.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

{Violation of the Consumer Legal Remedies Acts, Civ. Code § 1750, et seq. (“CRLA™)

59.  Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the
preceding paragraphs of this Corplamnt.

60.  Trex is a “person” as defined by Civil Code § 1761(c).

61.  Plajntiffs and the Class members are “consumers” within the meaning of
Civil Code § 1761(d).

62.  The affected products are “goods” within the meaning of California Civil
Code § 1761(2).

7837912 -9_
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63.  Plaintiffs’ purchases ﬁf ‘Trex products constituted “trapsactions” as that
term is defined in California Civil Code § 1761(e).

64,  Trex violated the CLRA’s “proscription against a concealment of the
characteristic, use, benefit, or quality” of the Trex products by actively concealing in all of jts

advertising, warranties, and representations the matenial fact that the Trex products are defective

. and substantially certain to fail prematurely.

65.  Trex violated the CLRA’s proscription against misrepresentation of the
characteristies, use, bepefit, or quality of goods by affirmatively mistepresenting at all times to
Plaintiffs, Class members, and everyorie in the chain of distribution in all of its broadly
disseminated marketmg and advertising, that its Trex products are moisture resistant and are
supenior to wood products with respect to Splixxtering when, in fact, they are not. Specifically
Trex’s representation of material facts regarding its Trex products superior qualities violated (2) §
1770(a)}(5Y’s proscription agaimst representing that goods have uses, characteristics or benefits
they do not actually have; (b) § 1770(a)(7)’s proscription against representing that goods are of 2
particular standard, quality or grade when they are of another; and (c) § 1770(2)(9)’s proscription
against advertising goods with the intent not to sell them as advertised.

- 66.  Trex’s active concealment of material facts violated § 1770(a)(5)'s
proscription against representing that goods have uses, characteristics or Eencﬁts they do not
actuajly have.

67.  Trex’s active concealment of material facts violated § 1770(a)(7)'s
proscription against representing that goods are of a particular standard, quality or grade when
they are of another.

68.  Trex’s active concerlment of materia) facts violated § 1770(a)(9)'s
proscription against advertising goods with the 1ntent not to sell them as advertised.

69.  The facts concealed by Trex were material, in that a reasonable person
would have considered them important in deciding whether or not to purchase (or to pay the same

price for) the Trex products.

18379 2 -10-
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70.  Trex’s concealment and deceptive practices, in violation of the CLRA,
were designed 10 mduce Plaintiffs and the members of the Class to purchase Trex products.

71.  Trex intended to do the act that was deceptive and/or frandulent, namely, to
market, distribute and sell Trex products.

72.  To this day, Trex continues to violate the CLRA by concealing the

defective nature of its Trex products and by failing or refusing to reveal to Class members that the

cause of the problems with. the Trex products is an icherent defect and not a result of improper
use or maintenance. -

73.  Plamtifis, on behalf of themselves and all similarly situated, demand
Judgment agamst Trex under the CLRA for injunctive relief in the form of restitution and/or
proportional disgorgernent of funds paid to Trex to purchase Trex products or repair and and/or
replace defective decking material, an injunction requiring Trex to replace the Trex products free
of charge, and an award of attorneys’ fees.

74.  Venus is proper pursnant to Civi} Code § 1780(c) because Trex does
business in this county. A Declaration of Plaintiff Ross establishing this Court as the proper
venue for this action is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

75. At the time this Complaint is being filed, Plaintiffs are submitting a CLRA
notice Jetter to Trex’s counsel, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B. If Trex fails to
provide appropriate relief for its violations of CLRA §§ 1770(a)(5), (7) and (9) within 30 days of
receipt of Plamtiffs’ potification, in accordance with Civ, Code § 1782(b), Plaintiffs are entitled,
vnder CLRA § 1780, to recover or obtain any of the following relief for Trex’s violations of
CLRA §§ 1770(2)(5), (7) and (9):

actual damages under Civ. Code Section 1780(a)(1);
punitive damages under Civ. Code Section 1780(a)(4);
attorneys’ feées and costs under Civ. Code Section 1780{d); and

any other rehef the Couvrt deems proper under Civ. Code Section
1780(2)(5). .

TRIT9).2 -11-
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- SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Violation of Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 & 17500 (the “Unfair Buginess Practices Act”))
76.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations contained in preceding

paragraphs of this Complaint.

77.  Business & Professions Code § 17200 prohibits acts of “unfair
competition.” As used in this section, “unfatr competiion” encompasses three distinct types of
misconduct: (2} “unlawful. . busincss acts of practices;” (b) “unfair or fraudulent business acts of
practices;” and (c) “unfair, deceptive or misleading advertising,.”

78.  Trex committed an unlawful business act or practice in violation of the
Unfair Business Practices Act, Business and Professions code § 17200, et seq., when it violated
the CLRA. as alleged in Paragraphs 59-75, above.

79.  Trex violated the CLRA’# proscription against misrcpresentéﬁon of the
charactenistics, use, benefit, or guality of goods by affirmatively misrepresenting at all times to
Plainii‘ﬁs, Class members, and ¢veryone in the chain of distribution in all of its broadly
disseminated marketing and advertising, that ats Trex products are moisture resistant and are
supexnior to wood products with respect to splimtering and other qualities when, in fact, they are
not.

80.  Trex committed unfair and fraudulent business acts and practices in
violation of the Unfair Business Practices Act, Business and Professions Code §§ 17200 and
17500, &t seg., by actively concealing and omitting from its advertising, marketing and other
communicatiops (including, inter alia, conceabmenis and omissions in Trex’s communications
with whelesalers, retailers, and others in the chain of distribution that were ultiznately passed on
to Plaintiffs and the Class) matenial information about the defective narure of the Trex decking
products i a manner that is deceptive and likely to deceive consumers and the public.

81.  Trex disseminated unfair, deceptive, untrue and/or misleading advertising
in violation of the Unfair Business Practices Act, Business & Professions Code §§ 17200 and
17500, et seq., when it concealed and/or failed to disclose the true defective nature of the Trex

1872 ' -12-
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decking products in its advertising, marketing, and other broadly disseminated representations
containing statements that its products were of a certain quality or standard when they were not.

82.  To this day, Trex continues to violate the Unfair Business Practices Act by
contiouing to actively conceal the defective nature of the Trex decking by representing to
Plaintiffs and mexobers of the Class that the defects result from improper installation or
matatenance.

83.  As adirect and proximate cause of Trex’s violation of the Unfair Business
Practices Act, Plaintiffs and the Class ha,ve suffered or will suffer harm in that they own Trex
products that will suffer delaznination and other defects, and will be required to incur costs to
clean and replace the defective deckmg products.

84.  As aproximate result of Trex’s violation of the Busiﬁess and Professions
Code § 17200, et seg., Trex has been unjustly enriched at the expense of Plaintiffs and the Class
and should be required to make restitution to Plaintiffs and the Class or disgoxge its ill-gotten
profits pursuant to Sections 17203 of the Business & Professions Code.

85.  Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and for all others similarly situated,
demand judgment against Trex for injunctive relicf in the f&m: of restitution, and/or proportional
disgorgement of funds paid to Trex to purchase the Trex products, and/or disgorgement of fimds
received by Trex from the purchase of replacement products, or injunctive relief in the form of
replacement of the defective products.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

{Breach Of Express Warranty)
86.  Plaintiffs bereby incorporate by reference the allegations contaied in the

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint.

87.  Trex's warranty provides that “for a period of twenty-five (25) years from
the date of oxigina) purchase, under normal residential use and service conditions, Trex products
shall be free from material defects in workmanship and matenals, and shall not check, split,
splinter, rot or suffer structural damage from termites or fimgal decay.”

<http://www.lrex.com/warranty>
7837912 -13-
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88.  Trex farther expressly warranted that “Trex takes the natural beauty of
wood, but leaves behind all the rotting and splintering.”
<http:/fwww trex_com/decking/default.aspx>

89.  Trex also provided consumers with photographs, samples or models of

- decking and fencing that did not show any signs of the Defects.

90.  The warrantics, affirmations, promises, assarances, descriptions and
models provided by Trex were the basis of the bargain for Plaintiffs and the Class Members in
purchasing or acquiring the Trex products.

91,  Trex has breached its express warranty to Plaintiffs and Class Members in
that the Trex products wera defective from the day they were sold and are substantially certain to
prematurcly experience delamination and other manifestations of the Defects.

92.  Trex has been put on notice of its breach of express warrantics by Plaintiffa
and Class members through warranty claims previously made and through notice provided by
Plaintiffs and Class Members prior to the filing of this Complaint.

93.  As a direct result of the failure of the Trex products to perform as
warranted, Plaintiffs and the Class have incurred and will contixue to incur expenses to maintain,
clean, and replace Trex decking products.

94.  Any coniractual language contained in Trex’s express warranty that
attempts to limit remedies is unconscionable, fails to conform to the requirements for limiting
remedies under applicable law, causes the warranties to fail of their essential purpose, and is,
thus, hnconscionable and void.

95.  Language in Trex’s limited warranty that purports to exclude the exact
types of Defects that affects Plaintiffs’ and proposed Class members” Trex products is unilaterally
mmposed in a contract of adhesion that is typically provided aftex the sale, and is therefore

unconscionable and causes the entirs warranty to fail of its essential purpose.

7837912 -14-
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1 FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEY
2 just Enrichment
30 | 96.  Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the
4 | preceding paragraphs of this Complamt
5 97.  Trex received monies as a result of Plaintiffs” and Class membexs’
6 | purchases of Trex products, and wrongfully accepted and retained these benefits to the detriment
7 1 of Plaintffs and Class members.
8 98.  Trex's enrichment at the expense of Plaintiffs and Class members was
9 { urjust.
10 99.  As aresult of Trex’s wrongfil conduct, Plaintiffs and the Class are entitled
11 | torestitution from and institution of a constructive trust disgorging all profits, benefits, aud other
12 | compensation obtained by Trex, plus attomeys’ fees, costs, and interest therson.
13 | IX. RELIEF REQUESTED
14 Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly sitvated, request the
15 | Court enter judgment against Trex, as follows:
16 100. Anorder ct:nif.ying the proposed plaintiff Class, designating Plaintiffs as
17 { the named represematives of the Class, and designatiog the undersigned as Class Counsel;
18 101. A doclaration that Trex is financially responsible for notifying all Class
190 | moembers of the problems with Trex material;
20 102.  An order enjoining Trex from further deceptive advertising, marketing,
21 | distribution, and sales practices with yespect to Trex and to remove and replace Plantiffs” and
22 | Class members’ decks with a suitable alternative decking material of Plaintiffs’ and Class
23 { members’ choosing; |
24 103. An award to Plaintiffs and the Class of compensatory, exemplary, and
95 | etatutory damages, including interest thereon, in an amount to be proven at trial;
26 104. A declaration that Trex must disgorge, for the benefit of the Class, all or
27 { part of the ill-gotten profits it received from the sale of Trex material, or to make full reshitution to
28 | Plaintiffs and the members of the Class;

7837912 - 15 -
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105. An award of attorneys” fees and costs, as allowed by law;

106. An award of pre-judgment and post-judgment intexcst, as provided by law;

107. For leave to amend the Complaint to conform to the evidence produced at

tral; and

108.  Such other or further relief as may be apbropriaic under the circunstances.

DE

OR JURY

109. Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury of any and all issues in this action 5o

triable.

DATED this 30th day of Septembez, 2008.

7837912

Jongthati D. Selbu@é Bar No. 170222)
iselbin@ichb.com

Kristen E. Law (State Bar No. 222249)
klaw@lchb.com

LIEFF, CABRASER, HEIMANN &

BERNSTEIN, LLP

275 Battery Street, 30th Floor
San Prancisco, CA 94111-3336
Telephone:  (415) 956-1000
Facsimile:  (415) 956-1008

Elizabeth A. Alexander

LIEFF, CABRASER, HEIMANN &
BERNSTEIN, LLP

150 Fourth Avenue, North, Suite 1650
Nashville, TN 37219-2423
Telephone:  (615) 313-9000
Facsimile:  (615) 313-9965

Richard S. Lewis

James J. Pizzirusso

COHEN, MILSTEIN, HAUSFELD & TOLL,
PLLC

1100 New York Avemue, N.W.

Suite 500, West Tower

Washmgton, DC 20005

Telephone:  (202) 408-4600

Facsimile: ~ (202) 408-4699
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Robert D. Gary

Jori Nacgele

GARY, NAEGELE & THEADO, LLC
446 Broadway

Lorain, OH 44052-1797

Telephone:  (440) 244-4809
Facsirnile:  (440) 244-3462

Antorneys for Plaintiffs and the Proposed Class
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Jonathan D. Selbin (State Bar No. 170222)

isclbin@lchb.com _
Kristen E. Law (State Bar No. 222249)

LIEFF, CABRASER, HEIMANN & BERNSTEIN, LLP

275 Battery Street, 30th Floor
San Francisco, CA 94111-3339
Telephone: (415) 956-1000
Facsumle: (4)5) 956-1008

Attorney for Plaintiffs and the Proposed Class

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF SANTA CRUZ

THOMAS MABREY, JR. and ERIC
ROSS, individually and on behalf of all
others similarly situated,
Plaintiffs,
v.

TREX COMPANY, a Delaware
corporation,

Defendant.

CASENQ.:
CLASS ACTION

VENUE AFFIDAVIT OF ERIC ROSS

I, ERIC ROSS, hereby declare and state as follows:

1. Tam overthe ageof 13. The facts contained in this declaration arc based

on my persona] knowledge, and if called upop to do 50, I could and would testify compstently

hereto.

2. 1 am, and have at all times relevant to this action been, a resident of the

County of Santa Cruz, Cabfornia.

T8IETS.)

-1-
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3. In orzround June 2005, I purebased Trex Accents decking material in the
approximate amiount of' $2,926.84. T purchased thfis decking materiat from 2 Senta Gruz County
_store called Lumbermens. In or around Japuary 2008, the Trex decking boaids began displaying
signs of delamiriation. This decking material is the subject of my claims against the Trex

F -3

Company.
[ declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Catifornia that the

foregoing is true and conect.

AT~ T - IR -

Daed: September 272008

1" |
12 By: L @‘r«/

ERIC ROSS

TEISIS -2-
VENUE AFFIDAVIT OF ERIC ROSS j
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LIEFF, CABRASER,; HEIMANN & BERNSTEIN, LLp
ATTORREYS AT LAW
JONATHAN D, SELBIN EaN FRANCISCO

PARTNER THG THIRD AVETUIL, 407 CLDOR
NEVY YORK. NEW YORK 10017-3024
TELEPRONE: {212) 555-9500
FACSIWILE! (212) 355-9592
msll@lchb_com
waww lchb . com

wWABHINGTON. 0.0,
BEVERLY HALLS
NASHVILLE

September 30, 2008

VIA CERTIFIED MAIL, RETURN RECEYPT REQUESTED

Andrew Ferran William Gupp .

Chainman Senior Vice President/Generat Counsel
Trex Coropany, Inc. Trex Company, Inc.

160 Exeter Dnive 160 Excter Drive

Winchester, VA 22603-8614 Winchester, VA 22603-3614

Re:  Notice and Demand Letter Re: Trex Decking Delamination and Moisture
Defects

To Trex Company, Inc.:

"Together with our co-counssl, Cohen, Milstein, Hausfeld & Toll, PLLC and Gary,
Naegele & Theado, LLC, we represent Eric Ross, Thomas Mebrey, Jr. and Dianna Spalliero.
Pursuant to the California Consumer Legal Remedies Act (“CLRA”), California Civil Code §
1750, ez seq. (specifically, §§ 1782(a)(1) and (2)), Mr. Ross, Mx. Mabrey apd Ms. Spalliero, on
behalf of themselves and all other similarly situated consurmers natiomwide (collectively, the
“Class”), through their undersigned counsel, hereby notify you that Trex Company, Inc. (“Trex”)
is alleged to have violated the CLRA by warranting, masketing, advertising, and seling Trex
decking products that Trex knew were inherently defective because when instalted and
maintained io accordance with Trex’s instructions, the decking products expericnce delamination
and moisture-related defeots (the “Defects’™) and are substantially certain to fail well before their
warranted and expected useful life. We hereby demand that Trex correct, repair, replace ox
otherwise rectify the goads within 30 days from your receipt of this letter.

M. Ross, a resident of Santa Cruz, Santa Cruz County, Califomnia, purchased Trex
decking in or around June 2003, for approximately $2,926.84. The entire cost of his deck, which
he installed himself, totaled approximately $5,000. In or about January 2007, Mr. Ross’s deck
begen to manifest the delamination Defect. An expert has inspected Mr. Ross’s deck and
confirmed that the delamination Defect has manifested. :

TBIV62.Y
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08/30/2008 13:18 FAX 14153511 : @o27/028
Trex Company, Inc.
September 30, 2008
Page 2

Mzx. Mabrey, a resident of Invemess, Cook Connty, Dinois, purchased Trex Escape
decking material through a conractor in or around March 2005. He paid approximately $13,600
for the decking materials and Jabor. Several months after his deck wes instailed, Mr. Mabrey’s
deck began to mavifest the moisture-related Defect. An expert has inspected Mr. Mabrey’s deck
and has confirmed that the meisture-related Defect has mamfested.

Ms. Spalliero jg a resident of Chicago, Cook County, Illinois. She purchased Trex
decking material through a contractor in approximately June 2007 for approximately $12,000,
inchusive of matexials and Jabor. Roughly one year after her deck was installed, it started to
manifest the moisturerelated Defect. An expert has inspected Ms. Spalliero’s deck and has
confirmed that the moisture-related Defect has manifested.

The Defects have caused significant financial consequences forx our clients and
consuwmers throughout the country. Trex knew of the Defects, apd concealed them from
consumers and the public in a2 nanner that violates the CLRA.

Trex’s misrepresentations and its astive concealment of and failure to disclose the
Defects in warranting, marketing, advertising, and selling Trex decking constitute the following
violations of the CLRA:

1. Trex has represented that its goods have characteristics, uses or benefits
thar they do not have (§ 1770(aX35));

2, Trex has falsely represented that its goods are of a particular standard,
quality or grade when they are of another (§ 1770(a)(7)); and

3. Trex has advertised its goods with the intent not to seli them as advertised
(§ 1770(2)(9)).

Pursuant to Section 1782 of the CLRA, and based on the foregoing, we hereby demand
 that within thirty (30) days of receiving this letter, Trex agree to replace the Trex decking owned
by Plaintiffs and others like them. Specifically, we demand that Trex: (1) replace free of charge

all defective Trex decking owned by any member of the Class, including the cost of labor for
replacement; or (2) agree o reimburse any and &l Class members who own Trex decking with a
manifest Defect for the full amount they paid for the Trex decking mateyials, plus the labor costs
that weze required to install the decking and that will be required to remove it.

Please be advised that should Trex refuse this demand, Mr. Ross, Mr. Mabrey and Ms.
Spalliexo will seek monetery damages for themselves and the Class, as well as an award of
imjmctive relief, restitation, punitive damages, attomeys® fees and costs, and any other reliefa
court deems proper.

-

If you have any questions regarding this notice and demand, feel free to contact me at
(212) 355-9500. ‘

T83062.1
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Trex Comopany, Inc.
September 30, 2008
Page 3

cc:  Blizabeth A. Alexander
Richard S. Lewis
James J. Pizzirusso
Robert D. Gary
Jori Nacgele
Patrick J. Perrone

7839621

Documentl-1 Filed02/13/09 Page24 of 2

. Very truly yours,

Jonathan D. Selbin

9
@o28/028
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SANTA CRUZ For Court Use Only

Santa Cruz Branch Watsonville Branch E
701 Ocean Street, Room 110, 1 Second Street, Room 300 F \ \, z
Santa Cruz, CA 95060 Watsonville, CA 95076 A
PLAINTIFF:  ERIC ROSS H gEp 10 20
vo, Su2ht
DEFENDANT: TREX COMPANY INC %‘Wﬁéﬁz oRUNTY
pEPUTY. ,
l CASE NO:
CASE MANAGEMENT INFORMATION AND SETTING CISCV161553

This case is in Santa Cruz County's Case Management Program. It is the Duty of each party to
be familiar with the california rules of court and the date, time and place of the first case
“management conference.

This notice must be served with the summons on all defendants and.chSS-defendants. Notice
of any other pending case management conference must be served on subsequently named
defendants and cross-defendants.

ATTENTION DEFENDANT: YOU HAVE 30 DAYS AFTER THE SUMMONS 1S SERVED ON
YOU TO FILE A RESPONSE TO THE COMPLAINT. THE DATE BELOW DOES NOT EXTEND
THE TIME TO FILE A RESPONSE. SEE THE SUMMONS FOR INSTRUCTIONS FOR
RESPONDING TO THE SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT.

The first Case Management Conference hearing date is:

Date: 01/28/09 Time: 8:29 - Department No.: 4
Address of the Court'@'m Ocean Street, Santa Cruz, California [] 1 Second Street, Watsonville, California
\

Telephonic court appearances are provided through CourtCall to the court. To make arrangments to
appear at the Case Management Conference by telephone, please call the program administrator for
CourtCall at (310) 572-4670 or (888) 882-6878 at least five (5) court days prior to the hearing. DO NOT
CALL THE COURT.

MC [Rev. 2/08] . . . Form: 006 Page 1 of 2
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THE LAWYER'S PLEDGE

In order to raise the standards of civility and professionalism among counsel and between the Bench and the Bar, |
hereby pledge the following:

To at ali imes comply with the California Rules of Professional Conduct;

Ta honor alf commitments;

To be candid in all dealings with the coust and counsel;

To uphold the integrity of our system of justice and not compromise personal integrity for the sake of a client,

case or cayse;

To seek to accomplish the client's legitimate goals by the most efficient and economical methods possible;

To act in a professional manner at all times, to be guided by a fundamental sense of fair play in all dealings

with counsel and the court, and to be courteous and respectful to the coust;

To be on fime;

To be prepared for all court appearances - to be familiar with all applicable court rules;

To adhere to the time deadlines set by statute, rule, or order,

c. To avoid visual displays of pique in response to rulings by the court;

1 To discourage and decline to participate in litigation or tactics that are without merit or are designed primarily to

harass or drain the financial resources of the opposing party;

12, To avoid any communications with the judge concerning a pending case unless the opposing party or lawyer is
present, or unless permitted by court rules or otherwise authorized by law;

13. Té refrain from impugning the integrity of the judicial system, its proceedings, or its members;

14, To treat all court personnel with the utmost civility and professonalism;

15. To remember that conflicts with opposing counsel are professional and not personal - vrgorous advocacy is not
inconsistent with professional courtesy;

16. To refrain from derogatory statements or discriminatory conduct on the basis of race, religion, gender, sexual
orientation or other personal characteristic;

17. To treat adverse witnesses and litigants with faimess and due consideration;

18. To conduct discovery proceedings as if a judicial officer were present;

19. To meet and confer with opposing counsel! in a genuine attempt to resolve procedural and discovery matiers;

20. To not use discovery to harass the opposition or for any other improper purpose;

Lal Ll

“soN om

21 To not arbitrarily or unreasonably withhold consent to a just and reasonable request for cooperation or
accommodation;

22, To not attribute to an opponent a position not clearly taken by that opponent;

23. To avoid unnecessary "confirming” letters and to be scrupulously accurate when making any written
confirmation of conversations or events; :

24, To net propose any stipulation in the presence of the trier of fact unless prev:ously agreed to by the opponent;

25, To not interrupt the opponent's tegal argument;
28. To address opposing counsel, when in court, only through the court;

27. To not seek sanctions against or disqualification of another lawyer to attain a tactical advamtage or for any
other improper purpose;

28. To not schedule the service of papers to deliberately inconvenience opposing counsel;
28, To refrain, except in extraordinary circumstances, from vsing the fax machine to demand 1mmed1ate responses
for oppesing counsel,

“MC [Rev. 2/08] Form: 006 Page 2 of 2
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ADR INFORMA TION PACKAGE,

Included in this package:
» Cover Page
¢ Alternafive Dispute Resolution Prooram Netice

- & Local Rorm SUPCY 1012
(Stipulation and Order to Attend Judicial Mediation or Private Arbitraﬁun)

ATTENTION PLAINTIFFS/CROS S—COMPLA]NAN’I‘S

. PLAINTIFFS SHALL SERVE A COPY OF THIS ADR
'INFORMATION PACKAGE ON EACH DEFENDANT
ALONG WITH THE COMPLAINT. -CROSS-COMPLAINANTS
SHALL SERVE A COPY OF THIS ADR INFORMATION
PACKAGE ON ANY'NEW PARTIES TO THE ACTION
“ALONG WITH THE CROSS-COMPLAINT
_(CRC 3.221)

SUPCV-1012 (Rev. 1/07) Page 1af3

‘Local Rule 7.1.02
STIPULATION AND ORDER TO ATTEND JUDICIAL MEDIATION : v

ORTPRIVATE ARBITRATION
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TO:  ALL CIVIL LITIGANTS

RE:  JUDICIAL MEDIATION PROGRAM OF SANTA CRUZ OR OPTION FOR
PRIVATE ARBITRATION

Alternate Dispute Resolution (ADR) is a process, other than formal litigation, in which a
neutral person assists the parties in resolving their dispute. Santa Cruz County’s ADR process
is Judicial Mediation. If the parties agree to Mediation, it is the policy of this Court to assign
appropriate cases to mediation without making a determination of the value of the case.

Appropriate cases will be assigned to Judicial Mediation from the Case Management
Conference Calendar. The parties may stipulate to Mediation prior to the Case Management
Conference by written stipulation on local form SUPCV 1012. Case Management Conference
Statements and requests for continuances should be submitted at least ten days in advance of
the hearing.

FOR MORE INFORMATION REGARDING SANTA CRUZ COUNTY’S MEDIATION
PROGRAM, SEE LOCAL RULE 7.1 OR CONTACT THE CIVIL CALENDAR
DEPARTMENT (SANTA CRUZ) AT (831) 420-2200 OR THE WATSONVILLE BRANCH
AT (831) 786-7200. -

You may also stipulate to use a private arbitration or mediation service with the same local
form 1012. This local form is required to ensure that the case is tracked properly by Court
staff.

SUPCV-1012 (Rev. 1/2008) Page 2 of 3
Local Rule 7.1.02
STIPULATION AND ORDER TO ATTEND JUDICIAL MEDIATION
OR PRIVATE ARBITRATION
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ATTORNEY OR PARTY WITHOUT ATTORNEY (NAME ANTY ADDRESS):

TELEFFIONE NO.:

ATTORNEY FUR. (NAME):

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SANTA CRUZ

For Court Use Only

Must be filed 10 days before Case Management Conference

| O Semta Cruz D Watsonville Bramch
701 Qceen Street, Ronm 110 1430 Freedom B oulevard
Sawia Cruz, CA 95060 Watsonville, CA 95076 .
Plamtiff/Petitioner; Homer
Defendmi/Respmdent:
STIFULATION AND ORDHER TO ATTEND JUDICIAL, MEDIATION CASE];]O,
OR PRIVATE ARBITRATION

FOR GOOD CAUSE s stated iu-the attached supporting declaration
CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE CURRENTLY SET FOR: .(DATE)
CHECK ONLY ONE BOX; .

1, { } The parties stipulate to court ordered mediation,

2. { ) The parties stipulate to private mediation or arbiration
’ days of the current CMC date stated above, The

, to be amranged by the parties and completed within 120

pariies agres that such process shall be 2 good falth attempt
-1o resolve the case, . o

SIGNATURES OF COUNSEL.:

- : . : TYPE RAME:
DATE: ATTORNEY FOR:
‘ . TYPE NAME:
DATE: ATTORNEY FOR:
L] ADDITIONAL SIGNATURES IN ATTACHMENT “A”

. ORDER

BASED ON THE STIPULATION OF THE PARTIES

, THE SUPPORTING DECLARATION,
AND FINDING BDOD CAUSE, THE APPLIGATION IS HEREBY GRANTED _
[ SET FOR JUDICIAL MEDIATION ON:” : AT: amibm,
[J VACATE CMC CURRENTLY SET FOR! AT .o,
. Dute: - :
JUDGE OF THE SUPERIOR COURT
- SUPCV-1012 (Rev. 1/07) Page 3of3
_ Local Rule 7.1.02

STIPULATION AND ORDER TO ATTEND JUDICIAL MEDIA TION

OR.PRIVATE AREBITRATION
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Jonathan D. Selbin (State Bar No. 170222) ' -
selbin@icsh.com F I LE D
mﬂﬁm E. Law (StatcBa;r No. 222249) -

* CABRASER, HEIMANN & JAN 0:5 2003

BERNSTEIN, LLP ALEX CALVO, CLe
275 Batfery Stroes, 30t Floor BY STEFHER, CARLTON

San Francisco, CA 94111-3336 DEFUTY, 8ANTA CRUZ coumv

Telrphine:  (415) 956-1000
Facelmile:  (415) 956-1008

Elizabeth A. Alewandor

calex: chb.tork

LIBFF, CABRASER, HEIMANN & BERNSTEIN, LLP
150 Fourth Avgoue, N Suito 1650

Naghville, TN 37215-24

Telephone:.  {615) 313-9000

Fecstnile:  (615) 313-9965

{additional counsel listed on signature pages)

 Afiorneys for Plaingiffs and the Propased Class

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY :
FILED BY FAX .
. ERIC ROSS aud BRADLEY §. HURETH, on
' behalf of themselves and )Y others gimilarfy
situated,
. CASE NO.: CV 161583
Plaintiffs,
_ FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION
. v, . ; COMPLAINT
| TREX COMPANY, INC., a Delaware , o
corporation, DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
Defendant |

ma‘in}:iffs Exit; Ross and Bradley . Hureth (“Pluintifis”) allege tha following on behalf of
themapives and all others similarly situated:

1.  INIRODUCTION

1. Pluintiffs bring this action for monetary daxages, declaratory and equitable
relief, and rectitution sai/or disgorgement of profits on bebaif of themsclves and ail similasty-
1940951 : -1-

FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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situated individuals and entities in California (the “California Class™) and Nationwide (the
“Nationwide Class™) (collectively, “the Class”™) who own decking products manufactured,
warranted, advertised, and sold by Trex Company, Inc. (“Trex”).

2. Trex decking prodiicts produced in its Nevada manufacturing facility

starting in or before 2003 are inherently defective because,even when installed and maintained in |

~accordance with Trex’s instructions, they experience “delamination,” including ﬂaking,;rotﬁng,
 cracking and splintering and are substantially certain to fail well before their warranted and

- expected useful life (“the Defect”).

3, This Defect is latent and exists in the Trex decks at the time of sale
regardless of proper installation, maintenance and ¢leaning, and there is no repair that will correct
the problems.

4, Trex has been manufacturing, warrantirig, advertising and selling Trex
products it knew or shonld _havc-lmowﬁ: were inherently defective since approximately 2003, and
perhaps before..

5, As a result of the Defect, Plaintiffs and thousands of others in California
and aé_ross the United States own inherently defective Trex decking produets that fail to perform
as'warranted and advertised by Trex, did not get what they paid for, and have incurred or will
incut thousands of dolars in damiages to replace their decks. |
1.  PARTIES

6. Plajnﬁff Eric Ross resides in Santa Cruz, Santa Cruz County, California.
He purchased Trex Accents :ciecking'méteﬁal-in or around June 2005, for approximately
$2,926.84, Plaintiff Ross constructed a deck on his home from those materialg, at-an additional

cost of apptoximately $2,000. In or.about January 2007, Plaintiff Ross’s deck began to show

- signs of delamination, Plaintiffs expeﬁ'ﬁas inspected Plaintiff Ross’s deck and confirmed that

| the Defect has manifested.

7. ‘Plaintiff Bradley $. Hureth resides in Rialto, California. He purchased

Trex decking in August of 2006 for $1,300 from a local contractor and the contractor installed the |

7940951 -2 -

BIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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deck. Tn or about May 2008, Plaintiff Hureth’s deck began to show signs of delamination in
multiple locations and the delamination has become more severe over time.

8. Trex is incorporated in Delaware and has its principal place of business in

| Winchester, Virginia. It has a manufacturing facility in Nevada where it produced the defective

: Trex products. Itis the country’s largest manufacturer of wood-plastic composite decking,

railing, fencing and trim products. Iis products are marketed and sold under the brand name

“Trex.” The company does business throughout Califormia and the United States. It

- manufactured, warranted, advertised and sold the defective decking products that were installed

' on Plaintiffs’ homes and those of thousands of others thronghout California and the United States.
10 | :

i JURISDICTION

9. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to California Code of |

Civil Procedure § 410.10. Jurisdiction over Trex is proper because it has purposefully availed

itself of the privilege of conducting business activities in California by selling Trex decking

materials to Plaintiffs Ross and Hureth and members of the Class, by maintaining a distribution
center in this State, and becanse it has generally maintained systematic and continuous business

cotitacts with this State.

IV, YENUE

10.  Venue is proper in this Court pursnant to California Code of Civil
Procedure §§ 395(a), 395(b), 395.5, Civil Code § 1780(c), because (a) some of the deseribed |
injuries to property ocenrred in this county; (b) some of the acts and transactions complained of
herein occurred within this county; and () Trex conducts business in this county by warranting,
advertising and selling its decking produets here.

11. A verue affidavit of Eric Ross pursuant to California Civil Code § 1780(c)
is attached hereto as Exhibits A.

V.  CHOICE OF LAW

12, No enforceable choice-of-law agreement governs here or compels the

application of any particular states” laws.

7940951 -3-

FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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13.  California law governs the claims asserted herein by Eric Ross and Bradley

' Hureth on behalfof the California Class. California, which seeks to protect the rights-and

' interests of California and other U.S. residents against a company doing business in California,

has a greater interest in the claims of Eric Ross, Bradley Hureth and the members of the

| California Class than any other State.

14.  California has the most significant relationship ‘w_ith_Er_ic Ross, Bradley
Hureth and the California Class and the events and occurrences that form the basis of their claims. |
Trex di.sm:_ibutes its product in California and maintains a distribution center in the State. Plaintiff
Ross resides in Santa Cruz County, California. Hxa.}:aurchased Trex decking material in California, |
and the decking material is currently located in California. Plaintiff Hureth resides in Rialto,
California. He purchased Trex decking material in California, and the decking material is
currently located in California, Thousands of other California residents alse purchased and own
Trex decks that have experienced or will experience the Defect. |

15,  Application of California law with respect to Eric Ross, Bradley Hureth
and the Califormia Class is neither arbitrary nor fundamentally unfair because California has

significant contacts and a significant aggregation of contacts that create a state interest in the

‘claims of the: California Class.

16.  All of the Nationwide Class members have a conmection to Nevada by
reason of Trex mafiifacturing the defective product there. .-ApplicatiOn of Nevada law to their
';_:i_aims- is neither arbitrary nor fundamentally unfair becanse Nevada has significant contacts and a

significant aggregation of contacts that create a state interest in the claims of the Nationwide

17. A common nuclens of facts and legal issues dominates this htigation,
Although some class members may possess slightly differing remedies based on state statute or
commen, law; the claims asserted by the Plaintiffs and the California and Nationwide Class are -

predicated on the sarie Core facts and legal claims with substantially the same relevant elements.

" To the extent distinct remedies may exist, they are local variants of a generally homogenous

7040951 _ -

FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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collection of causes of action which include consumer fraud, breach of express warranty and
unjust enrichment.

Vi. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

18, Trexisa wood-plastic composite decking material that Trex manufactures

- using a blend of plastics and recycled post-industrial woed fibers. Trex is advertised as a

premium material suitable for constructing outdoor decks, railings and other related structures.

{ treated wood, redwood and cedar.

19.  Upon information and belief, Trex has been manufactariig, advertising,
warranting and selling Trex for consumer and commercial use since at least 1996,

20.  Trex advertises its decking as “tak{ing] the natural beauty of wood, but

I leav[ing] behind all the rofting and splintering,” and as “resistant to-moisture,”
13 ]

<http:/fwww irex.com/decking/default.aspx>
21, Trex warranis its products for twenty-five (25) years from the date of
original purchase. The warranty provides that “Trex products shall be free from material defects

in workmanship and materials, and shall not check, split, splinter; rot or suffer structural damage

from termites or fungal decay.” <htip://%ww.irex.com/warranty/>

22.  Trex decking products, however, experience the Defect shottly after

installation, and well before their warranted and expected useful life. The Defect is unsolvable, in
20 ||

23, Trex fails in its purpose of providing suitable material with which to build
and maintain a deck, and it fails to meet its advertised and warratited gualities of being low
maintenance, superior to wood, and fit for use without application of sealants.

24, Inits Quarterly Report of May 9, 2008, Trex disclosed to its shareholders

that “Trex product that exhibited surface defects and which the Company has determined was

produced at the Nevada manufacturing facility beginning in 2003.” Despite its knowledge of the

defect, Trex failed to notify its custotners. Trex has also refused to provide adequate relief to

7940951 ' -5-
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Plaintiffs and thousands of others like them whose decks are prematurely failing due to the

Defect.

- VIL. TOLLING

25, Because the Defect 1s latent and not detectable unitil manifestation,
Plaintiffs and the Class members were not reasonably able to discover the Defect until after
purchase and installatior, despite their exercise of due diligence.

26.  Trex knew of the Defect prior to the time of sale, and concealed that

' material information from Plainfiffs and all consumers. Any applicable statutes of limitation

| have, therefore, been tolled by Trex"s concealment of material facts,
10 ¢ '

27.  Trex is estopped from relying on any statues of limitation because of its
concealment of the Defect.

VIL CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

28.  Plaintiffs Ross and Hureth bring this lawsuit as a class action on behalf of
themselves and all other similarly situated consumers: a8 ineinbers of a proposed California Class
pursnant to California Code of Civil Procedure § 382, California Civil Code § 1781, and, to the
extent applicable, the analogous provisions of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23.

29.  Plaintiffs Ross and Hureth also bring this lawsuit as a class action on _
behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated consimers as:menibers of a proposed
Nationwide Class pursuarit to Rule 23 of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, and to the extent
applicable, the analogous provisions of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23.

30.  Based upon the allegations of this Complaint, this action satisfies the

| asoertainability, numerosity, commonality, typicality, adequacy, predominance, and superiority

requirements for class certification in California Courts.

-

31.  The California Class is defined as:

All persons and entities who reside in the State of California who
own decking or structures constructed of Trex decking material that
has exhibited delamination, including deterioration, flaking,
cracking, rotting and/or splintering, including the legal
representatives, heirs, successors in interest, transferees and assigns

7980051 - -
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of all such foregoing holders and/or owners, immediate and remote
(the “California Class”). -

32. The Nationwide Class 18 defined as:

All persons and entities who reside in the United States, other than
those residing in the State of California, who ewn deckmcr er
structures constructed.of Trex: decking matenal that has exhzblted
delamination, including deterioration, flgking, crackmg, rotting
and/or splintering, including the legal representatives, heirs,
successors in interest, transferees and assigns of all such foregomg
holders and/or owners, immediate and remote {the “Nationwide
Class™).

33, 'The following Persons shall be excluded from the California Class and the
Naﬁ_onwide Class: (1) Trex and its subsidiaries, affiliates, officers and employees; (2) all Persons
who malke a timely election to be excludsd from the proposed Class; (3} -governmental entities;
and {4) the Judge(s) to whom this-case is assigned and any immediate farmly members theteof.

34.  Inaddition, all claims for personal injury, wrongfal death and emetional

35.  Plainiiffs reserve the right to re-define the Class prior to certification.

Ascertainability & Numerosity
36,  Although the exact number of California Class members and Nationwide

~ Class members is uncertain and can only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, Plaintiffs

: are informed and reasonably believe the number of affected structures constructed from Trex

products is in the tens of thousands, such that joinder is impracticable. .

' 37.  TheCalifornia Class and the Nationwide Class are each composed of an
easi-ly.as'cert'ainable, self-identifying set of individuals and entities who own decks or other
structures constructed with Trex material. |

Community of Interest

38.  Thereis a well-defined community of iiterest among the proposed Class
members, and the disposition of all their claims in a single action will provide substantial benefits |

to dll parties-and to the Court.

794095.1 ' -7 -
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Typicality
39.  The claims of the representative Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of the

Class in that the representative Plaintiffs, Iike all Class members, own defective Trex decks, and
have been damiaged by Trex’s uniforin misconduct by having decks that are deteriorating, flaking, |
cracking, rotting and splintering.

40.  The representative Plaintiffs, like all Class raembers, have been damaged

| by Defendant’s misconduct in that they have incurred or will incur the cost replacing the

defective Trex decking prodiicts, including the labor costs. |

41.  Furthermore, the factual bases for Trex’s misconduct is common to all
Class members and represents 4 common thread of misconduct resulting in injury to éli members
of the Class.

Predominance of Common Issues

42, 'There are numerous questions of law and fact common fo Plaintiffs and the |
Class. Those questions predeminate over any questions that may affect individual Class
members, and include the following:

43.  Whether Trex products are defective in that they experience flaking,
cracking, rotting and splintering and are therefore substantially certain to fail under ordinary
conditions well in advance of their expected useful life;

44, . Whether Trex knew or should have known of the inherent design and/or

45.  Whether Trex misrepresented that it products had certain qualities,
characteristics or benefits;

46.  Whether Trex represented that its products were of a particular standard,
quality or grade when they were not and/or when Trex knew or should have known that they are
of aniother standard, quality or grade;

, 47  Whether Trex advertised and/or offered for sale produets that were
defective without clearly and unequivecally indicating that the pfoiducts were defective and/or

with intent niot to sell or lease them 4s advertised;

1 _ma005.1 _ _ - 8-
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48.  Whether the facts Trex misrepresented, concealed or failed to disclose were |
material;

49.  Whether as aresult of Trex’s misrepresentation and/or concealment of

- material facts, Plaintiffs and the Class acted to their detriment by purchasing Trex products;

50.  Whether Plaintiffs and the Class have suffered a loss as the result of Trex’s |
misrepresentation and/or concealment of material facts;

51.  Whether Trex’s conduct in advertising and selling Trex products

constitutes a violation of the California Corsumer Legal Remedies Act, Civ, Code §§ 1750, et

| seq. (“CLRA™);

52.  Whether Trex’s conduct in advertising and selling Trex products
constitutes a violation of California’s Unfair Business Practices Act, Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200,
et seq’; |

53.  Whether Trex’s conduct in marketing and selling its products constitutes a
violation of the Nevada Trade Regulation and Practices Act, Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 598.0903, ef seq.;

54.  Whether Trex created express warranties. regarding its product;

55.  Whether those warranties became part of the basis of the bargain for
Plaintiffs and the Class;

56.  Whether Ta:ex_; shounld be declared financially responsible for notifying all
and/or replacement of all such products;

57.  Whether Plaintiffs and the Class are entitled to conipensatory, exemplary, '
and statutory damages, and the amount of such damages; and

58,  Whether Trex should be ordered to disgorge, for the benefit of the Class,

all or part of the ill-gotten profits it received from the sale of defective Trex products, and/or to

make full restitution to Plainfiffs and the members-of the Class.

7940951 _-9-
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Adequacy
59.  Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the California

Class and the Nationwide Class. They have retained counsel with substantial experience in-

. prosecuting consumer class actions, and specifically actions involving defective products.

60.  Plaintiffs and their counsel are committed to prosecuting this action

-~ vigorously on behalf of the Class, and have the financial resoutces to do so. Neither Plaintiffs nor

' their counsel have any interests adverse to those of the Class.

61.  Plaintiffs and the members of the Class have all suffered and will continue

to suffer tiarm and damages as a result of Trex’s unlawful and wrongful conduct. A class action

s superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy.

* Absent 4 class dction, most members of the Class would likely find the cost of litigating their

claims to be prohibitive, and would have no effective remedy at law. Because of the relatively |
small size of the individual Class members” claims, it is unlikely that Class members could afford
to seek .Ie_gal redress for Trex’s misconduct. Abs‘en_t.-a class action, Class members will continue
to incur damages and Trex’s misconduct will continue without remedy. Class treatment of
common questions of law and fact would alse be superior to multiple individual actions or
piecemeal litigation in that class treatment will conserve the resources of the courts and the
litigants, and will promote .gonsisiency and efficiency of adjudication.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF.

Violation of the Consumer Le 1] Remedies Acts, Civ. Code § 1750, et seq. (“CLRA’))
(On Behalf of the California Class Only)

62, Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference the allegations comntained in the

preceding paragraphs-of this Amended Complaint.

63.  Trex is a “person” as defined by Civil Code § 1761(c).

64,  Plaintiffs and the California Class members are ;‘consﬁmers'” within the
meaning of Civil Code § 1761(d).

65.  The affected products are “goods” within the meaning of California Civil
Code § 1761(a). | |

FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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66.  Plaintiffs’ purchases of Trex products constituted “transactions™ as that
term is defined in California Civil Code § 1761(¢).

67.  Trex viclated the CLRA’s “proscription against a concealment of the
charactéristic, use, benefit, or quality” of the Trex product's'-‘by' actively concealinig in all of its
advertising, warranties, and representations the material fact that the Trex products are defective
and substantially certain to fail prematurely.

68.  Trex violated the CLRA’s proscription against misrepresentation of the
characteristics, use, benefit; or quality of goods by affirmatively misrepresenting at all times to
Plaintiffs, California Class members, and -e-veryonc..in the chain of distribution in all of its broadly
disseminated marketing and advertising, that its Trex pmduétsa are mioisture resistant and are
superior to wood products with respect to splintering when, in fact, they are not. Specifically
Trex’s represeniation of material facts regarding its Trex products superior qualities violated (a) §

1770(a)(5)’s proscription against representing that goods have 1_1565,_ characteristics or benefits

' they do not actually have; (b) § 1770(a)(7)’s proscription against representing that goods are of a |

particular standard, quality or grade when they are of another; and (¢) § 1770(2)(9)’s proscription |
against advertising goods with the intent not to sell them as advertised. :

69.  Trex’sactive concealment of material facts violated § 1770(2)(5)'s
proscription against representing that goods have uses, characteristics or benefits they do not
actually have.

70.  Trex’s active concealment of material facts violated § 1770(a)(7)'s
proscription against represeiiting that goods are of a particular standard, quality or grade when
they are of another. |

71.  Trex’s active concealment of material facts violated § 1770(a)(9)'s
proscription against advertising goods with the intent not to sell them as advertised.

72,  The facts concealed by Trex were miaterial, in that 4 réasonable person
woiild have considered them important in deciding whether or not to purchase (or to pay the same

price for) the Trex products.

7940951 o -11-
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73.  Trex’s concealment and deceptive practices, in violation of the CLRA,
were designed to induce Plaintiffs and the members of the California Class to purchase Trex
products.

74.  Trex intended to do the act that Was deceptive and/or fraudulent, hamély, to
market, distribute and sell Trex products, |

75.  Tothis day, Trex continues to violate the CLRA by concealing the
defective nature of its Trex products and by failing or refusing to reveal to.ﬂle,C_exil;i_fornia.Class
menbers that the cause-of the problems with the Tréx products is an inherent defect and not a
result of improper use or maintenance.

76.  Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all similarly situated, demand

judgment against Trex under the CLRA for injunctive relief in the form of restitution andfor

- proportional disgorgement of funds paid to Trex to purchase Trex products or repair and and/or
| replace defective decking material, an injunction requiring Trex to replace the Trex products free

48
- of charge, and an award of attorneys’ fees.

77.  Venue is proper pursuant to Civil Code § 1780(c) because Trex does

business in this county. A venue declaration of Plaintiff Ross establishing this Couzt as the

|l proper venue for this action is attached hereto as Exhibit A.
18 .

78. At the time this Amended Coniplaint is being served, Plaintiffs are

B. If Trex fails to provide appropriate relief for its violations of CLRA §§ 1770(2)(5), (7) and (9) |
within. 30 days of receipt of Plaintiffs’ notification, in accordance with Civ. Code § 1782(b),
Plaintiffs are entitled, under CLRA § 1780, to recover or obtain any of the following relief for
Trex’s violations of CLRA §§ 1770(a)(5), (7) and (9):

actual damages under Civ. Code Section 1780(a)(1);

punitive damages under Civ. Code Section 1780(a)(4);

attorneys” fees and costs under Civ. Code Section 1780(d); and

arty other relief the Court deems proper-under Civ. Code Section

794095.1 _ . -12 -
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1780(2)(5).
SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Violation of Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 & 17500 (the “Unfair Business Practices Act”))
{On behalf of the California Class Only)

79.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations contained in preceding
paragraphs of this Amended Complaint.
80.  Business & Professions Code § 17200 prohibits acts of “unfair

~ competition.” As used in this section, “unfair competition” enicompasses three distinct types of
misconduct: (a) “unlawful.. . business acts of practices;” (b) “unfair or fraudulent business acts of

practices;” and (¢) “unfair, deceptive or misleading advertising.”

81.  Trex committed an unlawful business act or practice in violation of'the

Unfair Business Practices Act, Business and Professions code § 17200, et seq., when it violated

e CLRA as alleged above.

82.  Trex violated the CLRA’s proscription against misrepresentation of the
characteristics, use, benefit, or quality of goods by affirmatively misrepresenting at a’H times to
Plaintiffs, the California Class members, and everyene in the chain of distribution in all of its
broadly disseminated marketing and --advefti"siﬁg, that its Trex products are fnoistﬁre resistant and
are superior 1o wood products with ,resﬁect. to _spﬁiltering and other qualities when, in fact, they
are not.

83.  Trex committed unfair and fraudulent business acts and practices in
violation of the 'Uﬁfaiﬁ: Biisiness Practices Act, Business aiid Professions Code §§ 17200 and
17500, et seq., by actively concealing and omitting from its Advertising, marketing and other
communications (including, inter alia, concealments and omissions in Trex’s comnmunications
Withiwho-lesaler's, retailers, and others in the chain of distribution that were ultimately passed on
to Plaintiffs and the Class) material information about the defective nature of the Trex decking
products in 2 manner that is deéepti've and likely to deceive consumers and the public.

84.  Trex disseminated unfair, deceptive, untrue and/or misleading advertising

 in violation of the Unfair Business Practices Act, Business & Professions Code §§ 17200 and

794095.1 _ -13-
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decking products in its advertising, marketing, and other broadly disseminated répresentations
contaihing statements that its products were of a certain quality or standard when they were not.

85,  As.adirect and proximate cause of Trex’s vielation of the Unfair Business
Practices Act, Plaintiffs and the members of the California Class have suffered or-will suffer harm
in that they own Trex products that will suffer delamination and will be required to incur ¢osts to
clean and replace the defective decking products.

86.  As aproximate result of Trex’s violation of the Business and Professions
Code § 17200, et seq., Trex has been unjustly enriched at the expense of Plaintiffs and the
California Class and should be required to make restitution to Plaintiffs and the members of the
California Class or disgorge its ill-gotten profits pursuant to Sections 17203 of the Business &
Professions Code.

87.  Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, demand

received by Trex from the purchase of replacement products, or injunctive relief in the form of

replacement of the defective products.

Nevada Trade Regulation and Practices Act, Nev. Rev. Stat. §8 598.0903, ef seq.)
(On Behalf of the Nationwide Class)

88.  Plainfiffs hereby incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the
preceding paragraphs of this Amended Complaint.

89,  Trex knowing_ly made false representations as to the characteristics and/or
benefits of its products, among other false representations in the course of selling its products.

90.  Trex represented that its products were of a particular standard, quality or
grated, when it knew or should have known that they were of another standard, quality and/or
e _ ‘

91.  Trex advertised its products with intent not to sell them as advertised.
7940951 _ -14 -
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92.  The misrepresentations made by Trex were material, and were made
knowingly and intentionally, with intent to mislead.
_ 93.  Trex intentionally concealed and/or failed to disclose the true nature of the
design and/or manufacturing defect in its Trex products for the purpose of inducing Plaintiffs and

the Nationwide Class to act thereon, and Plaintiffs and the members of the Nationwide Class

| justifiably rélied to their detriment upon the truth and completeness of Trex’s representations

about its products. This is evidenced by Plaintiffs’ and the Nationwide Class members’ purchase
of Trex’s products.

94,  Asadirect and proximate é‘ause of Trex’s misconduet, Plaintiffs and the
meémbers of the Nationwide Class have suffered actual damages in that (1) their decks and other
structures in their homes constructed with Trex are defectively designed and manufactured, and
(if) their decks and other structures in their homes constructed with Trex have failed and will
eontinue to fail prematurely, requiring them to expend money to.diagnose, repair, and/or replace
these structures.

95.  As aresult of Trex’s misconduct, Plaintiffs and the Nationwide Class are
entitled to compensatory damages, attofnéys” fees, costs, and interest thereon.

' FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

- (Breach Of Express Warranty) _
(On Behalf of the California and Nationwide Classes)

96.  Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the
preceding paragraphs of this Amended Complaint.

97.  Trex’s warranty provides that “for a period of twenty-five (25) years from
the date of original purchase, urider normal residential use and service conditions, Trex products

shall be free from material defects in workmanship and materials, and shall not check, split,

~ splinter, rot or suffer structural damage from térmites or fungal decay.”

<http:/fwww.trex, com/warranty>

794095.1 -15-
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98.  Trex further expressly warranted that “Trex takes the natural beauty of

- wood, but leaves behind all the rotting and splintering.”

<http:/fwww.trex.com/decking/defanlt aspx> _
99.  Trex also provided consumers with photographs, samples or models.ef
decking and fencing that did not show any signs of the Defect.

100. Thewarranties, affirmations, promises, assurances, descriptions and

‘models provided by Trex were the basis of the bargain for Plaintiffs and the Class members in

purchasing ot acquirig the Trex products.

101. Trex has breached its express warranty to Plaintiffs and Class members m

' prematurely experience delamination and other maniféstations of the Defect,

102.  Trex has been put on notice of its breach of express warranties by Plaintiffs |

and Class members through warranty claims previously made and through notice provided by

103. As adirect result of the failure of the Trex products to perform as
warranted, Plaintiffs and the Class member have incutred and will continue to meur expenses to
maintain and replace Trex decking products.

104.  Any.coniractual 1angﬁag‘e’ contained in Trex’s express warranty that
attempts to litnit temedies is unconscionable, fails to conform to the requirements -{fo_f limiting
remedies under applicable law, causes the warranties to fail of their essential purpose;-.and is,
’tfm’s‘, unconscionable and void.

105. Language in Trex’s limited warranty that purports to exclude the exact
types of Defect that affects Plaintiffs’ and proposed Class members’ Trex products is.unilaterally
imposed:in a contract of adhesion that is typically prpvided:raﬂer the sale, and is therefore
unconscionable and causes the entire warranty to fail of its.essential purpose.

/
/
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FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Unjust Enrichment) 7
(On Behalf of the California and Nationwide Classes)

106. Plaintiffs heteby incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the
preceding paragraphs of this Amended Complaint.

107. Trex received monies as a result of Plaintiffs” and Class members’
purchases :Qf Trex products, and wrongfully accepted and retained these benefits fo the detriment
of Plaintiffs and Class merﬁbers,

108. Trex’s enrichment at the expense of Plaintiffs and Class members was

unjust. _
109.  As aresultof Trex’s wrongful conduct, Plaintiffs and the members of -t_hé
Class are entitled to restitution from and institution of a constructive trust disgorging all profits,

benefits, and other compensation obtained by Trex, plus attorneys® fees, costs, and interest
theréon.

IX. RELIEF REQUESTED

Plaintiffs, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated, request the Court enter

judgment against Trex, as follows:

110.  An order certifying the propesed California and Natienwide Classes,

designating Plaintiffs as themamed representatives of the California and Nationwide Classes, and

" designating the undersigned as Class Counsel;

111. A declaration that Trex is financially re§ponsible for notifying all Class
members of the problems with Trex material;

112.  Anorder enjoining Trex from further deceptive advertising, marketing,

- digtribution, and sales prachices with tespéct to Trex and to remove and replace Plaintiffs’ and
- Class members’ decks with a suitable alternative decking material of Plaintiffs” and Class

members’ ¢hoosing; .
| g

794095.1 _ - 17 -
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113.  Anaward to Plaintiffs and the Class of compensatory, exemplary, and
- statutory damages, including interest thereon, in an amount to be proven at trial;

114. A declaration that Trex must disgorge, for the benefit of the Class, all or
part of the ill-gotten profits it received from the sale of Trex material, or to make full restitution to
Plaintiffs and the members of the Class;

115. Anaward of attorneys’ fees and costs, as allowed by law;

116.  An award of pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, as provided by law;

117. For leave to amend the Complaint to conform to the evidence produced.-at
trial; and

118.  Such other or furthier relief as may be appropriate under the circumstances. |

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

119. Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury of any and all issues in this action so

triable.

DATED this 6th day of January, 2009.
Jonathan D. Selbin (State Bar No. 170222)
jselbin@lchb.com _
Kristen E, Law (State Bar No, 222249)
klaw(@lchb.com
LIEFF, CABRASER, HEIMANN &
BERNSTEIN, LLP
275 Battery Street, 30th Floor
San Francisco, CA 94111-3336
Telephone: (415) 956-1000
Facsimile: (415) 956-1008

794095.1 . -18-
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Elizabeth A. Alexander

LIEFF, CABRASER, HEIMANN &
BERNSTEIN, LLP _

150 Fourth Avenue, North, Suite 1650
Nashville, TN 37219-2423
Telephone: (615) 313-9000

Facsimile: (615) 313-9965

Richard 8. Lewis

Jameés J. Pizzirusso
HAUSFELD, LLP

1146 19th Street, NW, 5th Floor
Washington, DC 20036
Telephone: (202) 579-1089
Facsimile: (202) 747.5713

Robert D. Gary

Jori Naegele _

GARY, NAEGELE & THEADOQ, LLC
446 Broadway

Lorain, OH 44052-1797

Telephone: (440) 244-4809

Facsimile: (440) 244-3462

Kim Stephens

TOUSLEY, BRAIN & STEPHENS, PLLC
1700 Seventh Averue

Suite 2200 -

Seattle, Washington 98101-4416
Telephone: (206) 682-5600

Facsimile: (206) 682-2992

Michael McShane

AUDET & PARTNERS, LLP
221 Main Street, Suite 1460
San Francisco, CA 94105
Telephone: (415) 982-1776
Facsimile: (415) 568-2556

Charles L. LaDuca

CUNEOQ, GILBERT & LaDUCA, LLP
507 C Street, NE

Washington, D.C.. 20002

Telephone: (202) 789-3960

Facsimile: (202) 789-1813

Attorneys for Plaintiffs and the Proposed Class

7940951 - -19- :
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EXHIBIT A




i THOMAS MABREY, JR. and ERIC _ '
1 ROSS, individually and ¢ri behalf of all . CASENO.:

| TREX COMPANY, a Délaware
- corporation,

Case3:09-cv-00670-JSW Documentl-2 Filed02/13/09 Page21 of 26

- Jonathan D. Selbin {State Bar No. 170222}
' iselbingolehb.com

Kristen E. Law (State Bar No. 222249)
LIEFF, CABRASER, HEIMANN & BERNSTEN, LLP
275 Battery Strcet 30th Floor

' Telaphene {415) 956- 106{9
+ Facsimile: (415) 556-1008

Attorney for Plaintiffs and the Proposed Class

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
TN AND EOR THE COUNTY OF SANTA CRUZ

others similarly situated, o
CLASS ACTION

Plaintiffs,
- VENUE AFFIDAVIT OF ERIC ROSS

Defendant.

7438750 -1-

I, ERIC ROSS, hereby declare and state as follows:

L 1 am over the age of 18. The facts contained in this declaration are based

! on my personal knowledge, and if called npon to doso, I could and would testify competently

) | hereto.

2. 1 am, and have at all times relevant to this action been, a resident of the

| County of Santa Cruz, Cdlifornia.

VE\TJ’E AFFIDAVIT OF ERICROSS
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3. Jn o around June 2005, T purchesed Frex Accents decking material in the

appreximate amonnt of $2,926.84, | purchased this decking material from o Santa Cruz County

- Company.

stoie calied Lumbermens. fn o-around January 2008, the Trex decking boards began displaying

| signs of delamination. This decking maferial is the sibject of my elairos agatist the Trex

[ deelare under peralty of perfury under the laws of the State of Califormia that the

| foregoing is tiue and corvect.

Duted: Sepreraber 272008

] 7&3@?5: H

ERIC ROSS

.

VENLE AFFIDAVIT OF BRIC ROSS
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Lierr, CABRASER, HEIMANN & BERNSTEIN, LLP

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

;ﬁ‘;‘?ﬁ’gﬁ“ O SELBIY: RO THIRD AVEMUE, 48THFLOOR SaM FRANCISCO
. NEW L. NEW-YORK 106173024 WASHINGTON, D.G;
TELEPHONE: (2)2) 3555500 BEVERLY HILLS
EAGSHAILE: (215 550502 NASHVILLE
raalgBlenk son
wivrwichbeors
September 30, 2008
VYIA CERTKFIEB MATL, RETURN RECEIPT REQHESTED
Andrew Ferrari William Guipp
Chairman Senior Vice President/General Counsel
Trex Company, Inc. Trex Company, Inc.
160 Exeter Drive 160 Bxeter Drive
Winchester, VA 22603-8614 Winchester, VA 22603-8614

Re:  Notiee and Demand Letter Re: Trex Decking Diglamination and Moisture
Defects

To Trex Company, Inc.:

Together with our co-counsel, Cohen, Milstein, Hansfeld & Toll, PLLC and Gazy,
Naegele & Theado, LLC, we represent Eric Ross, Thomas Mabrey, Jr. and Dianna Spalliero.
Puirsuiaiit to the Califora Consurtier Legal Remedies Act (“CLRA™), Califorsia Civil Code §
£750, et seg (spemﬁcal}y, $§ 1?82( a}{ 1) and (’?}), Mr, Ross, Mr. Mabrev and ‘Ms Spalhero on

: “Class”} th;rough ﬁhen' undem gned counsei hareby nc:?t_ify you_ that Trex Cempany I__nc ( “Trex™)
is.alleged to have viclated the CLRA by warranting, marketing, advertising, and sefling Trex
decking products that Trex knew were inherently defective because when mstalled and
mainfained in gccordance with Trex’s instructions, the decking products experience delamination
and moisture-related deficts (the “Defects™) and are substantially certainto fail well before their-
warranted and expected useful life. We hereby demand that Trex correet, repair, replace or
otherwise rectify the goods within 30 days: from your receipt of this letter.

M. Ross, a resident of Santa Cruz, Santa Cruz County, California, purchased Frex
decking in or around Hme 2005, for approximately $2,926.84. The entire-cost of his deck, which
he installed himself, totaled approximately $5,000. In or about January 2007, Mr. Ross’s deck
began to manifest the delamination Defect. An expert has mspected Mr. Ross’s deck and
confirmed that the delamination Defect has sanifesied.

TRIER]
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Trex Company, Inc.
September 30, 2008
Pags 2

‘ M. Mabrey, a resident of Inverness, Cook County, Iifinois, purchased Trex Escape

deckuig matenal ﬂxmugh a contractor i or around March 20{)5 He pmd approxlmately 313 600
decL becran to mamfest the mmsture—raia‘ted Defeci An expen has mspected Mr Mabrey $ dcck
and has confirmed that the moisture-related Defect has manifested.

Ms. Spalliers is a resident of Chicago, Cook County, Hlinois. She purchased Trex
decking material through 2 contracter in approximatsly June 2007 for approximately $12,000,
inciusive of maisﬁ als and labor Roughly Gne Yeaf aﬁer her 'deck was. iﬂstai}ed it started to

cenﬁnnﬁd that the znmsmre-related Dﬁfect has m&mfes’ted

The Defects have caused significant financial consequeneces for our clients and
consurers throughout the country. Trex knew of the Defects, and concealed them from
consurners and the public ify 2 matiner that violates the CLRA. :

Trex’s mistepresentations and its active concealment of and failure to disclosé i_hf_: _
Defects in warranting, marketing, advertising, and selling Trex decking constitute the following
violations of the CLRA:

3. Trex has represented that its goods have characteristics, uses or benefits
that they do not have (§ 1770(@)(5))

2. Trex has falsely représested that its goods are-of & particular standard,
quality ot grade when they are of another (§ 1770(a)(7)); and
3. Trex Has advertised its gobds with the intént riot te sell theny as advertised.

{§ 1770€a}9))-

Pugsuant to Section 1782 of the CLRA, and based on the foregoing, we hereby demand
that within thirty {30) days of receiving this letter, Trex agree to replace the Trex decking owned
by Plaintiffs and others like them. Specifically, we demand that Trex: (1) teplace free of charge
all defective Trex decking owned by any member of the Class, including the cost of labor for
replacemetit; or (2) agree to reiinbuyse any and 4ll Class meribers who own Frex decking with a
manifest Defect for the full amount they paid for the Trex decking materials, plus the labor costs
that were required to install the decking and that will be required to remove it.

Sp_aihero wﬂl saek nuonetary dama_oes for t_hemse_l_'vcs a_nd the Ciass a8 Well 48 An awaxd of
injunctive relief, resittution, punitive damages, attoreys” fees and costs, and any other reliefa
cowrt deems proper.

1f you have any questions regarding this notice and demand, feel free to contact me-at
{212) 355-9500.

TBIY62.T
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‘Frex Company, Inc.
September 30, 2008
Page 3

Very truly yours,

Tonathan D. Selbin

co:  Elizabeth A, Alexander
Richerd S. Lewis.
James J. Pizzimusse
Robett D. Gary
Jori Naegele
Patrick 1. Perrone

783962.1
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SUM-100
SUMMONS oo
{CITACION JUDICIAL)

NOTIGE TO DEFENDANT:
fAVISO AL DEMANDADO): ' L E
TREX COMPANY, a Delawarc Corporation D
SEP 30 2008

YOU ARE BEING SUED BY PLAINTIFF: CALVOD, GLERK

(LO ESTA DEMANDANDO EL. DEMANDANTE): M ,
ERICROSS, THOMAS MABREY, JR. and DIANA SPALLIERO, on BebNTY
behalf of themsclves and ail others similarly situated

Your have 50 CALENDAR DAYS xftar this sitranons and legyal papers are 3arved on you to file a wrftien responsa st this court and have a
topy served on the plaintiff. A lsttor or phone call wil not protect you, Your written reaponse muit be in proper lagat form i you wamt the
court £ hear youw case. Theme muy be » coyrt form that you can use for your response. You can find thass court forms and more
nformation at the Cakfornia Courts Onllne Seif-Halp Contor www.courtinfo.cagovisatfhalp), your county law library, or the courthouse
nearpst you. i you cannot pay the filing fae, ask the court clerk for 2 fee waiver form. i You do not flie your reaponsv on time, you may
lose the case by dafaull, ang your wages, money, and propanty fray be taken without further warning from e court. .

Thare ara other lnga! requirements. You may want to call an witorney right away. f you do nol know an sitorney, you may want to call sn
atierney referral sorvice. if you cannot aiford an attomey, you may ba atigihie for free legaf sefvicas from 2 nonprofit legat services
program. You can locate these nonprofit groups at the Cakfornia Legal Scrvices Wob site fwww tawheipcalforniz.on), the Caltfornla
Courts Online Sai-Help Center (www.courtinfo.ca.goviseifhelp), or by contacting yaur iocal court or county bar association,

Tine 30 DIAS DE CALENDARID después: de gue fe entreguan «sth cltaclin ¥ papeies ingales para presentar und respuesty por excriio
| on esta corto ¥ hacer ques s entegus una copls ol dearandante. Una carts o yna Ramada slefénica no fo protegen. Su respuesta por
ascrito Hane que exter en formato jegal cofracta 6F DEea Gue DroGesen ) 250 en ka corte. E3 posible que kays vn formuluria que usted
Putds USEE PArS SU respuacts.  Puede cncontrer estos fomiulavios de kx corle y mis informacion an of Cantra de Ayuds de lss Cortes do
Californias (waw.cowvinfo_cr.govisaiihelplespancl], sn Ia bibliotecs de jeyes de $U condada o en b oorin qus fe quede aris terce, 8i no
Puade pagar la cucts de presentacitn, pida xl secratadio de la corte que fc o un formuiario du orencitn de pago ds cuotss. Sipo preseate
3U respuesta a tiempa, punde perder of case por Incumpliseienta y i corte Je podrs quitar su susido, dinero y blenes sin nris advertencis.
Haynmmw;ﬁashgm &5 recomendable gque ifame 3 un abogade inmedietgmrenr. S1no conace 3 un sbogado, pusde Hamara un
servigio oc remisién a abogados. STno puetc pager # un abogada, ac pasitie que cumple con los reqoisiins pers olitenet Sorvicios
fopales gratultan de un progame de servicios legales sin fines de lucro. Puede encontrar astos grupox 2in fines de fucro on ol &itfo wab de
Colifornis Legal Services, fwww.iawhelpcakifornia arg), en sl Covrro de Ayuts te 1as Cortea de Colilfornia,
WmmuWWonmmbmodwamm

anmandaddrssoftheoourhs‘
{E] nombyre y dirsccidn de fa core es); % 6.’ 5"'-}?
Superior Court of Cslifornia, County of Santa Cruz, Mam Courthouse
701 Ocean Street
Santa Crmz, Califomia, 950560
The name, address, and telephone number of plainliffs attornay, or plaintiff without an attomay. 1s:
(El nombre, iadmccmyelnﬁnerodetdﬂbnoddabogsdodddemandamndammdams tiene pbogado, 85
Jonathan D. Sclbin (State Baxr No. 170222), Knsten E. Law (State Bar No. 222249) Tel {415) 9564000

Lieff, Cabraser, Heimann & Berastein, L1P, 275 Battery Street, 30th Floor, Bogé‘m_c_loh%ﬂ 94111

DATE: Clawk, by . . Daputy
fFGI:BB) SEP 3 O 2098 { ,r AR {Adrio)
{For procof of service of this summons, use PTool of Service of Smnﬁrfmﬂ POSD10])
{Para pruaba da onirega de esta citatitn use &l formutario Peoof of Service of Summans., (POS-010)).

NOTICE TO THE PERSON SERVED: You are seved .

ey 1. ] as as ndividus! gefendant.
2{ as the person sued undes the fictitious name of (gpecify):

3. (] onbenalf of (specify):

under: ] CCP 416.10 (corporation) [] CCP416.60 (mino)
[] CCP 418:20 (defunct corporation) [T] oCP416.70 (consenvates)
{1 CCP 418.40 (association or partnership) [T ] CCP 416.90 (authorized person}
{1 othar (spedi):
4. [} by personsl defivery on {0ata): —
A Goonch of CREFOImS Coow of Civ Procadure §i§ 41230, 465
l’mnluwﬁxl:rwywo . SUM e

00 (Mo daamry 1, 2004
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] CH-019
Jonwun D'?‘s" %ﬁﬁmu“ | . fnmuv
s 5““” ‘“""4%5‘%‘?&%’“““"“"33” as6-
TELEPMONE N0
-, 1000 oy f 5 1008
COURT OF GALIFORNA, GOUNTY Of Sants sz
snaer avonese: 701 Ocean Street
wouws sortse 701 Ocean Stnet, Room 110
oy sz cooe: Sonta ( CA 95060
- I

| SvCneue
CASE NAME:
Ross et al v. Trex Company . i
CIVIL CASE COVER SHEET Compiex Caar Daxignation s o
demanded demandad fs Filad with first appearance by defendant
exceeds §23,000)  $25,000 of less) TCaL Rulos of Cout, rula 3.402) DewT.

‘ mummummmmma
1. Chack one box baiow o hie casa type ihat best dascribes this casa:

Austs Tort Provislonatly Complex Cvif Litigetion
mmi Bruehdmmmm (&lﬂuhufmﬁm
ummm Rute 3,740 collectons (03) 1 Amarsytrads rogeiaton )

Other PUPDIW) (Parsonal nfwry/Property Otwr colaciions 409 Conetuction defect (10)
geWrendtul Death) Tort Emurancs covarags (18) Mass o [40)

Asbeasios (04) [ omercontacs 31y Securies Rigaon (28)
mmmm EM Environmental Tasc o (30)
Modical malpractioe Eminant domain/inverse m
Oter PYRLAND (23} condameatien (14) ] ot ooy S o o
pmreu T3 Wrongtod wvictien £y ""“‘"’
mmwmm ] otherron property (26 Enfarcemeat of Sudgment
AR Agits (08) tawhisl Degpiner [ Eokoromment of prigment (20}
Defarnaton (13) Coramorsal (31) ' Wiyceilanaous Clvil Comptaing
Frous (16) Resideotel (32} 1 mooan
Ioeehectus proporty (10} L] ougpa 7 Otter comptaint gt specited aboves 142}
Professional negigence (25) g Miccalanaous CivR Prtiion
J owmmmm Aszat farfelture. (05} 3 Partnership and coporols govamance 21)
. Peiilion ree orbliration awad (11} ] Othar protiton (hot zpackiod ebove (63)
Wmﬁm{aﬁj {7 wik ohrsarcons (22
, Other nS} ' Oxhor 39
2. Triscase | complex undsr ruia 3,400 of the Collamia Rules of Cowt. Ifthe oe 8 mark the
complex,

7 BG4 rsber of separstoly ropresaried parfes  d. ] Largs number of witnesses

Extensive motion pracica ratsing dificuitarnovel 6. [ ] Coordination with ralated actions pending In one or mors courts
thal will be Sme-consuming o resoiva In other countdas, states, or countrias, of & a Tader) cout

Substantial mmount of dogumencary evidence t. £ substantiat posthudgment judicie) supervision

3 Rmmrmumm@mm b.[ £ nonmanetery; deciarmtory or injunctive refief ¢ [Z Jpupitve
4. Number of causes of action (specify);

5 This cese Eals Dwnot 2 class action suit.

&, M there are wny knOwn retatod cages, file and sacve  notice of related casa.

Knms?t:mba 30,2008

FTVRE R PR NANE,

« Plainti? must e this cover gheet with the Sost Med 11 the action or procebd {mmmmwmuﬂed
under the Probate Coda, Family Coda, or :ndmcode}.{t}a! Msdmwam)ﬁhmmmmqm

0 sanctons.
. ﬁeﬂumﬂmhﬂdﬂanmwmmmwmmum
® I this cuess |5 complex under e 3.400 ot seq. of he Cafomis Rules of Court, you musi serve. 2 copy of s cover sheet on all

other pacties fo tha action or proceading.
* Unisss the is 3 collections caoe under sule 3,740 or 3 comphat case, this covar sheat wl] ba ysed for statisics] purpeses
mmhmm CIVIL CASE COVER SHEET uw&-mmmm ﬁipn"‘g

cumcpuur oy - P
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PROOF OF SERVICE
(CCP § 1013A.(3))
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO
I am employed in the County of San Francisco, State of California. I am over the age of 18
and not a party to the within action; my business address is Four Embarcadero Center, Suite 1200,
San Francisco, CA 94111.
On February 13, 2009, T served the foregoing document described as
NOTICE OF REMOVAL

on the following interested parties via electronic mail as follows

Jonathan D. Selbin, Esq. Elizabeth A. Alexander
Email: jselbin{@lchb.com Email: ealexander@lchb.com
Kristen E. Law, Esq Lieff, Cabraser, Heimann &
Email: klaw@ichb.com Bernstein, LLP
Lieff, Cabraser, Heimann & Bernstein, LLP 150 Fourth Avenue, North, Suite 1650
275 Battery Street, 30™ Floor Nashville, TN 37219-2423
San Francisco, CA 94111-3336 Tel.: (615)313-9000
Tel.: (415) 956-1000 Facsimile: (615) 313-9965

Facsimile: (415)956-1008

And on the following interested parties in this action by placing a true copy thereof enclosed

in a sealed envelope addressed as set forth below:
SEE ATTACHED

BY OVERNIGHT DELIVERY-- I caused personal delivery of the document(s) listed
above, by placing the true copies in separate envelopes for each addressee, with the name and
address of the person served shown on the envelope and by sealing the envelope and placing it for
collection and delivery fees paid or provided for in accordance with ordinary business practices.

Executed on February 13, 2009 at San Francisco, California.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is

true and correct.

Kathleen H. Fentan

1 Printed on Recycled Paper

Ross, et al. v.Trex Company, Inc.
"PROOF OF SERVICE
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ATTACHMENT TO PROOF OF SERVICE

Jonathan D. Selbin, Esq.
Email: jselbin@lchb.com
Kristen E. Law, Esq
Email: klaw@lchb.com

Lieff, Cabraser, Heimann & Bernstein, LLP

275 Battery Street, 30" Floor
San Francisco, CA 94111-3336
Tel.: (415) 956-1000
Facsimile: (415) 956-1008

Elizabeth A. Alexander
Email: ealexander{@lchb.com
Lieff, Cabraser, Heimann &
Bernstein, LLP
150 Fourth Avenue, North, Suite 1650
Nashville, TN 37219-2423
Tel.: (615) 313-9000
Facsimile: (615) 313-9965

Richard S. Lewis
James J. Pizzirusso
- HAUSFELD, LLP
1146 19" Street, NW, 5 Floor
Washington, DC 20036
Tel.: (202) 579-1089
Facsimile: (202) 747-5713

2

Robert D. Gary
Jori Naegele
GARY, NAEGELE & THEADO, LLC
446 Broadway
Lorain, OH 44052-1797
Tel.: (440) 244-4809
Facsimile: (440) 244-3462

Kim Stephens
TOUSLEY, BRAIN & STEPHENS, INC.
1700 Seventh Avenue, Suite 2200
Seattle, WA 98101-4416
Tel.: (206) 682-5600
Facsimile: (206) 682-2992

Michael McShane
AUDET & PARTNERS
221 Main Street, Suite 1460
San Francisco, CA 94105
Tel.: (415)982-1776
Facsimile: (415) 568-2556

Charles L. LaDuca
CUNEO, GILBERT & LaDUCA, LLP
507 C Street, NE
Washington, D.C. 20002
Tel.: (202) 789-3960
Facsimile: (202) 789-1813

Printed on Recycled Paper

Ross, et al. v.Trex Company, Inc.
PROOF OF SERVICE




